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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2024
 

Performance (Sterling total return)
 

For the year ended
30 November 2024

%
Since Inception

%

Net asset value (NAV) per ordinary share*(1) 34.8 199.2

Ordinary share price*(2) 45.4 173.1

Ordinary share price including subscription share value*(3)  -  174.9

Benchmark (Sterling total return) (4)
MSCI ACWI Financials

 
36.1

 
204.8

Other Indices and peer group (Sterling total return)

MSCI World Index 26.8 285.7

FTSE All Share Index 15.8 104.3

Lipper Financial Sector (5) 37.1 161.8

Performance since Reconstruc2on on 22 April 2020 (Sterling total
return)

Since Reconstruction %
 

NAV per ordinary share* (6) 129.9

Benchmark (4) 128.1

Financials

As at
30 November

2024

As at
30 November

2023
%

Change

Total net assets £629,678,000 £488,198,000 +29.0

NAV per ordinary share 207.7p 158.1p +31.4

Ordinary share price 196.2p 138.8p +41.4

Discount per ordinary share*  (5.5%)  (12.2%)

Net gearing* 5.1% 6.5%  
 

Earnings per Ordinary share (7)
For the year ended
30 November 2024

For the year ended
30 November 2023

Revenue Return 5.31p 4.97p

Capital Return 48.62p (9.84p)

Total 53.93p (4.87p)

Expenses*

Ongoing Charges  0.85%  0.86%

Ongoing charges including performance fee (8)  0.85%  0.86%



Ongoing charges including performance fee (8)  0.85%  0.86%

 
Dividends~
The Company has paid or declared the following dividends relating to the financial year ended 30 November 2024:

Pay date

Amount per
Ordinary

Share

 
Ordinary Shares

In issue Record Date Ex-Date Declared Date

First interim:
30 August 2024 2.50p          304,272,705 2 August 2024 1 August 2024 27 June 2024

Second interim:
28 February 2025 2.20p          303,219,365 7 February 2025 6 February 2025 20 January 2025

Total (2023: 4.55p) 4.70p

 

Note 1   

The total return NAV performance for the period is calculated by reinves�ng the dividends in the assets of the Company from

the relevant ex-dividend date. Performance since incep�on has been calculated using the ini�al NAV of 98p and the NAV on 30

November 2024. Dividends are deemed to be reinvested on the ex-dividend date as this is the protocol used by the Company's

benchmark and other indices.

 

Note 2   

The total return share price performance is calculated by reinves�ng the dividends in the shares of the Company from the

relevant ex-dividend date. Performance since incep�on has been calculated using the launch price of 100p to the closing price

on 30 November 2024.

 

Note 3   

The total return share price performance since incep�on includes the value of the subscrip�on shares issued free of payment at

launch on the basis of one for every five O rdinary shares and assumes such were held throughout the period from launch to

the final conversion date of 31 July 2017. Performance is calculated by reinves�ng the dividends in the shares of the Company

from the relevant ex-dividend date and uses the launch price of 100p per O rdinary share and the closing price per O rdinary

share on 30 November 2024.

 

Note 4   

Effec�ve from 1 June 2024, the Board agreed to remove the chain linked benchmark which had historically been provided as a

point of reference for informa�on purposes only. The chain linked benchmark was a combina�on of 3 benchmarks which were

in opera�on during the life of the Company. From incep�on un�l 31 A ugust 2016, the Company's benchmark was the M S C I

World F inancials Index Net Total Return Index, which included Real Estate as a cons�tuent un�l its removal that year. From 1

September 2016 to 23 A pril 2020 the benchmark was the M S C I World F inancials + Real Estate Net Total Return Index. From 23

A pril 2020, the benchmark changed to M S C I AC W I Financials Net Total Return Index due to the Company's exposure to

emerging market equi�es and its limited exposure to real estate equi�es. Performance and any associated calcula�ons that

include the Benchmark, which is now the M S C I AC W I Financials Net Total Return Index, as a reference point, remain

unchanged.

 

Note 5   

Dynamic average of open-ended funds in the Lipper F inancial Sector Universe which comprised 59 open ended funds in the

year under review.

 

Note 6   

The total return NAV performance since Reconstruc�on is calculated by reinves�ng the dividends in the assets of the Company

from the relevant ex-dividend date. The new performance fee period runs from the date of the Reconstruc�on. The opening

NAV for the performance fee of 102.8p is the closing NAV the night before the tender offer was completed.

 

Note 7

Refer to Note 11 below for more details.

 

Note 8

There was no performance fee provision in the current or prior year.

 

* Alternative Performance Measure, see below for further explanations.

~ Refer to Note 12 below for more details.                                                                     



                                                                       

Data sourced by HSBC Securities Services Limited and Polar Capital LLP.                                                	               
 

Status of Announcement 

The figures and financial informa�on contained in this announcement are extracted from the draB unaudited financial results

for the year ended 30 November 2024 and do not cons�tute statutory accounts for that year. O nce finalised, the A nnual

Report and Financial Statements will include the Report of the Independent A uditors which is expected to be unqualified and

not expected to contain a statement under either sec�on 498(2) or Sec�on 498(3) of the Companies A ct 2006. The A nnual

Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 30 November 2023 have not yet been delivered to the Registrar of

Companies.

 

The figures and financial informa�on for the year ended 30 November 2023 have been extracted from the published A nnual

Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 30 November 2023 and do not cons�tute the statutory accounts for that

year. The A nnual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 30 November 2023 have been delivered to the Registrar

of Companies and included the Report of the Independent A uditors which was unqualified and did not contain a statement

under either section 498(2) or Section 498(3) of the Companies Act 2006.

 

The Directors' Remunera�on Report and certain other helpful shareholder informa�on have not been included in this

announcement but will form part of the finalised A nnual Report which will be available on the Company's website and will be

sent to shareholders in February 2025.

 

National Storage Mechanism  

A  copy of the A nnual Report once published will be submiEed to the Na�onal Storage Mechanism ('NS M') and will then be

available for inspection at https://data.fca.org.uk/#/nsm/nationalstoragemechanism.

 

Neither the contents of the Company's website nor the contents of any website accessible from the hyperlinks on the

Company's website (or any other website) are incorporated into or form part of this announcement.

 

 

CHAIR'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders ,

 

O n behalf of mysel f and the Board I  am pleased to provide to you the Annual  Report of the Company for the year to 30

November 2024.

 

The Company was able to take advantage of the strength of the financials  markets  over the period, returning a  net asset

value per share of 34.8%, the best annual  investment performance in the Company's  history. Moreover, the Company's

share price discount to NAV narrowed during the financial  year, ending at 5.5% compared to the prior year of 12.2%. This

strong investment performance and the narrowing of the discount resulted in a  total  share price return for the year of

45.4%.

 

The investment return was marginal ly behind the Benchmark which rose 36.1% during the period. About 6.5% of the

Company's  porCol io is  invested in fixed income securiDes  which returned 12%. Excluding the fixed income porCol io the

investment return would have exceeded the Benchmark which includes  only equiDes. Longer term investment performance

remains  good with NAV total  return measured from the Company's  reconstrucDon in Apri l  2020 to the year ending 30

November 2024 at 129.9% versus  the Benchmark of 128.1%. The share price total  return for the same period was 128.3%.

 

Investment Performance

Headl ine performance figures  disguise the ebb and flow of the market: markets  do not tend to progress  evenly, there are

many twists  and turns  and global  events  that influence investor senDment over any period. The financial  year under

review in this  set of report and accounts  is  no excepDon. O ur managers  have been acDve with the porCol io, adjusDng by

country or region and by sector as  they deem appropriate. They have made some very good cal ls  (being overweight

alternaDve asset managers  for example) which have benefiIed the Trust but, as  i s  typical  of any acDve manager, not

everything went their way.

 

The last few months  of the period under review were parDcularly chal lenging. The kni fe-edge US elecDon, more muted

reducDons in interest rates  and the potenDal  for s lower economic growth across  many regions  led to a  more defens ive

posiDoning of our porCol io. Being underweight large cap US banks  meant we s l ightly underperformed as  Trump was voted

in for a  second term as  US P res ident. O veral l , the Manager navigated these bouts  of volaDl i ty extremely wel l  and del ivered

a good investment performance.



a good investment performance.

 

As  in previous  years , the Manager has  provided a detai led account of the team's  acDvity and their views and outlook. I

encourage Shareholders  to read this  to gain a  ful ler understanding of the investment environment in which the managers

operate and how they evolved the portfol io throughout the year. The Manager's  report i s  provided in the Annual  Report.

 

2025 Tender Offer

The Company was launched in July 2013 with a  fixed seven-year l i fe. Shareholders  approved changes  to the Company's

ArDcles  of AssociaDon to make regular tender offers  to a l l  Shareholders  and to extend the Company's  l i fe indefinitely at

the Company's  General  MeeDng held on 7 Apri l  2020. The ArDcles  of AssociaDon require the Company to make tender

offers  for up to 100 per cent of the shares  held by each Shareholder at five-yearly intervals , with the first to commence on

or before 30 June 2025 (the "2025 Tender Offer").

 

Shareholders  who wish to real ise their investment in the Company (in whole or in part) pursuant to the 2025 Tender O ffer

wi l l  be offered the opportunity to tender their shares  for sale at the prevai l ing NAV per ordinary share less  costs  and other

appropriate adjustments . A further announcement seLng out the ful l  detai ls , Dmetable of events  and terms of the 2025

Tender Offer wi l l  be publ ished in due course.

 

NAV Discount Management

The Company conDnued to pursue a substanDal  share buyback pol icy during the year which was pos iDve for the NAV and

helped support l iquidity in the shares. The Company bought back a  total  of 5,642,322 ordinary shares , equivalent to 1.7%

of the shares  in issue at the start of the period, at an average discount of 8.9%. These buybacks  had an accreDve effect on

the NAV of 0.26p per share. No ordinary shares  were bought back fol lowing the year end.

 

The Board issues  a  delegated authori ty to the Manager and the Corporate Broker to buy shares  under defined parameters .

These are des igned to ensure that the Company does  not displace any market demand for shares  but provides  l iquidity, i f

required, once market demand has  been saDsfied. The Board has  reconfirmed i ts  authori ty to the Manager to conDnue the

pol icy of share repurchases  under appropriate parameters  to ensure l iquidity for Shareholders  and reduce the discount at

which the Company's  shares  trade. The Company's  share price traded in a  discount range of 4.7% to 12.4%, ending at a

discount of 5.5%.

 

Dividends

The Company currently adopts  a  progress ive dividend pol icy, whereby dividends may increase on an annual  bas is  (the

ExisDng Pol icy). There is  no guarantee, however, that such increases  wi l l  be achieved. The aim is  to pay two interim

dividends each year, in February and August however these interim dividends wi l l  not necessari ly be of equal  amounts  as

dividends from the Company's  underlying investments  arrive i rregularly throughout the financial  year.

 

The Board conDnual ly monitors  the dividend outlook from i ts  equity holdings , interest income from cash and from fixed

income securiDes. I n August 2024 the Company paid an interim dividend of 2.50p per ordinary share. The Board has

declared a further interim dividend of 2.20p per ordinary share payable to Shareholders  on the register as  at 7 February

2025. This  wi l l  bring the total  dividend paid for the financial  year under review to 4.70p per ordinary share, an increase

of 3.3% on the previous  financial  year.

 

Fol lowing feedback from shareholders  and engagement with our advisors  and the manager, the Board is  mindful  that

many investors  now seek investments  that offer a  regular and aIracDve dividend. As  such, the Board is  proposing the

adopDon of an "enhanced dividend" pol icy under which i t wi l l  a im to pay, in the absence of unforeseen ci rcumstances, a

regular dividend equivalent to approximately 4% of the Company's  NAV in a  given year. I t i s  proposed that dividends wi l l

be paid quarterly at a  level  of 1% of the Company's  NAV, calculated on the last bus iness  day of each prior financial

quarter. Under this  proposal , D ividends wi l l  be paid from avai lable revenue and topped up, i f necessary, from

distributable capital  reserves. Further detai ls  in respect of the payment of dividends from distributable capital  reserves

can be found in Notes  22 and 23 in the financial  s tatements .  The abi l i ty to use other distributable capital  reserves  to help

smooth the level  of dividend payments  over the longer term is  a  disDnguishing feature of investment trusts . Any dividend

distributions  by the Company wi l l  result in a  decrease in NAV.

 

Shareholders  wi l l  have the opportunity to vote on the proposed dividend pol icy at the Annual  General  MeeDng taking

place on 10 Apri l  2025. Should there be sufficient support, and the new dividend pol icy be approved, i t wi l l  be effecDve for

the financial  year commencing 1 December 2025. I n the absence of unforeseen ci rcumstances  and i f approved, the first

dividend payable on the new bas is  wi l l  be calculated by reference to the Company's  NAV for the quarter ending 27

February 2026. I t i s  anDcipated that the dividend wi l l  be announced in mid-March 2026 and subsequently paid in Apri l

2026. Subsequent dividends wi l l  fol low a s imi lar pattern.



 

Should the proposed new dividend pol icy not be approved by Shareholders  at the AGM, the Board wi l l  maintain the

Existing Pol icy as  outl ined above unti l  a  dividend pol icy is  proposed to shareholders  again at the AGM to be held in 2026.

 

Cancellation of Share Premium Account

The Companies  Act 2006 permits  the Company (subject to the approval  of Shareholders  and the consent of the Court) to

cancel  i ts  share premium account and credit the balance to the Company's  distributable reserves. The "share premium

account" has  accumulated over Dme as  the result of the Company issuing shares  at a  premium to their nominal  value. The

net proceeds are apporDoned to the Company's  share premium account, which is  a  non-distributable reserve that the

Company is  unable to use for the purpose of making distributions  to Shareholders .

 

By cancel l ing the share premium account, the Company further increases  i ts  flexibi l i ty to meet tender requests  under the

2025 Tender O ffer, apply such reserves  for the return of capital  to Shareholders  and for any other general  corporate

purposes. The Company is  seeking to cancel  the enDre amount of i ts  share premium account, being £311,369,000 as  at 30

November 2024, in order to benefit from this  flexibi l i ty and primari ly to create a  surplus  of distributable reserves  to

permit future distributions  to Shareholders .

 

The cancel laDon of the share premium account requires  the pass ing of a  specia l  resoluDon at the AGM and subsequent

approval  of the Court. Shareholder approval  wi l l  be sought for a  specia l  resoluDon to cancel  the Company's  share

premium account at the AGM taking place on 10 Apri l  2025. The cancel laDon wi l l  not be effecDve unDl  the order of the

Court confi rming the cancel lation has  been registered with the registrar of companies .

 

Share Capital

As at 30 November 2024, the Company had 331,750,000 ordinary shares  of 5 pence each in issue, of which 28,530,635

shares  (this  represents  8.6% of the issued share capital ) were held in treasury (2023: 331,750,000 ordinary shares  of 5

pence each in issue of which 22,888,313 were held in treasury).

 

No ordinary shares  were bought back or i ssued fol lowing the year end.

 

The Board

As referenced in my statement to Shareholders  last year, the Board is  aware of the FC A's  Divers i ty and I nclus ion Pol icy

and notes  that i ts  current composiDon meets  two of the three 'comply or explain' targets  with three of the four members

being female and one of the two senior pos iDons being occupied by a  female. W hi lst we do not meet the recommended

ethnici ty requirements , the Board has  put in place a  success ion plan based on the recommended nine-year tenure of

Directors . A key objecDve for the Board is  to have an appropriate blend of ski l l s  and divers i ty of experience and thought

around the table. W hen the Board next embarks  upon a director search i t wi l l  set cri teria  that ensures  candidates  are

sourced from a broad pool  such that the Board can cons ider candidates  with minori ty ethnic backgrounds. Further

information on this  can be found in the Corporate Governance Report in the Annual  Report.

 

As  reported in the last interim report, we have been joined by a  board apprenDce, Ada O kpe. The Board ApprenDce

program is  an iniDaDve des igned to develop aspiring board members  and boost divers i ty in boardrooms. Ada is  spending

around 12 months  with the Board to gain experience which we hope he wi l l  be able to use in his  execuDve career and in

future director roles . See the Annual  Report for an interview with Ada on his  experience as  a  board apprentice.

 

There have been no other changes  to the membership of the Board during the year under review. The Directors '

biographical  detai ls  are avai lable on the Company's  website and are provided in the Annual  Report.

 

Cost Disclosures

The Board notes  the Government's  stated intention to reform UK retai l  disclosure rules .

 

The Board has  engaged with the Manager to understand the potenDal  impl icaDons to retai l  disclosure rules  fol lowing the

publ icaDon of the FC A's  consultaDon paper on the new product informaDon framework for Consumer Composite

I nvestments  ("C C I s") in December 2024. The final  rules  under the new C C I  framework are expected to be publ ished later in

2025.

 

Annual General Meeting

The Company's  Annual  General  Meeting ("AGM") wi l l  be held at 16 Palace Street at 2:00pm on Thursday, 10 Apri l  2025. The

noDce of AGM has  been provided to Shareholders  and wi l l  be avai lable on the Company's  website. Detai led explanaDons

of the formal  bus iness  and the resoluDons proposed at the AGM are contained within the Shareholder I nformaDon secDon

in the Annual  Report and in the NoDce of AGM. We wi l l  upload a copy of the Manager's  I nvestment P resentaDon to the



in the Annual  Report and in the NoDce of AGM. We wi l l  upload a copy of the Manager's  I nvestment P resentaDon to the

Company's  website ahead of the AGM and wi l l  hold only the formal  bus iness  of the meeDng in person. We have provided a

zoom l ink in the NoDce of AGM which wi l l  enable interested parDes  to view the formal  bus iness  and ask quesDons via  the

on-l ine chat function.

 

The Manager wi l l  be avai lable to answer quesDons and meet Shareholders  present. Al l  formal  bus iness  resoluDons wi l l

be voted on by a  pol l  and we therefore encourage Shareholders  to submit their votes  ahead of the meeDng by proxy card

which is  provided with the NoDce of MeeDng. Shareholders  who hold shares  via  an onl ine stockbroker or plaCorm are

encouraged to exercise their vote through their respecDve plaCorms and where poss ible aIend the AGM proceedings.

Further information can be found on the AIC's  website and in the Shareholder information section in the Annual  Report.

 

We are conscious  of the importance of Shareholder engagement and encourage Shareholders  to engage with the Board

and the I nvestment Manager. As  such, the Board invites  Shareholders  to submit quesDons in wriDng to which we wi l l

respond, as  far as  poss ible, ahead of the AGM date. P lease send your quesDons to cosec@polarcapital.co.uk on or before 7

Apri l  2025 with the subject heading PCFT AGM.

 

Outlook

We are enthus iasDc about the outlook for the global  financial  sector; this  i s  a  large and diverse sector which has  been

overlooked by investors  for many years  and where large secDons of the market sDl l  trade at very aIracDve valuaDons. We

have started to see a pos iDve change in senDment with an improvement in fundamentals  that should drive a  re-raDng.

I nterest rates  are normal is ing; personal  and corporate balance sheets  are in good shape; and earnings  are recovering.

W hether these developments  are a  result of l ighter touch regulaDon, net interest margins , insurance rates  picking up or

increased fee income for asset managers , a l l  of these factors  should lead to investors  increas ing their exposure to this

exciDng part of the investment universe. W hi le we wi l l  be offering Shareholders  an opportunity to tender their shares

during 2025, we anDcipate that most wi l l  wish to conDnue invesDng with us  and retain their exposure at what may be a

pivotal  point in time.

 

Simon Cordery

Chair

 

19 February 2025

 

 

INVESTMENT MANAGER'S REPORT

 

Investment Review

Performance

The Trust del ivered excel lent returns  in the year to 30 November 2024, with i ts  net asset value ris ing by 34.8% aQer adding

back dividends. Excluding the fixed income pos itions, the equity portfol io returned 36.4% before fees. This  compares  to the

wider equity markets  as  measured by the M S C I  AC W I  index which rose 25.6% over the same period, but was  s l ightly

behind our equity benchmark return of 36.1%, reflecDng our a l locaDon to fixed income and our more defens ive

positioning in the US in the run-up to the US election.

 

F inancials  was  the best performing sector of the global  equity markets  in the period, beaDng informaDon technology into

second place. Fol lowing the more dovish commentary by US Federal  Reserve (the "Fed") Chair, Jerome Powel l , in December

2023, markets  priced in the expectaDon of much lower interest rates  in 2024. W hi le the speed and number of interest rate

cuts  has  been s lower and fewer than expected, i t has  been on the back of largely stronger economic data.

 

The elecDon of Donald Trump in November with the Republ icans  taking control  of both houses  of Congress  led to US

equiDes  s ignificantly outperforming wider equity markets  as  the prospect of less  regulaDon, lower taxes  and concern

about the impact of tariffs  on countries  rel iant on exports  to the US, led to a  rotaDon into US equiDes  out of non-US

equities . Consequently, US financials  have erased the balance of their underperformance from 2022 and 2023.

 

Credit markets  were buoyant as  investors  took advantage of the more pos iDve outlook for risk and the higher yields

offered by corporate bonds relaDve to government bonds. Consequently, the subordinated debt[1] of banks  and insurance

companies  returned 11.6% over the 12 months  as  credit spreads  contracted. As  the cost of i ssuing debt fel l  there was a

sharp increase in bond issuance in the period as  companies  looked to take advantage of the better environment.

 

A s ignificant driver of investment acDvity over the year was  a imed at taking advantage of the potenDal  ramificaDons of

the US Federal  Reserve s ignal l ing that interest rates  had peaked. Against that background, we took the opportunity to



the US Federal  Reserve s ignal l ing that interest rates  had peaked. Against that background, we took the opportunity to

s ignificantly increase the Trust's  exposure to those companies  we bel ieved would benefit the most from the increased

l ikel ihood of a  soft landing for the US economy and a better background for financial  markets .

 

The Trust was  more defens ively pos iDoned than the index in the second hal f, with a l locaDons to fixed income and some

specific stocks  which resulted in a  modest underperformance overal l . However, our stock selecDons helped us  outperform

the subsector indices  in most cases. At the subsector level , the Trust benefited from overweight pos iDons in, for example,

al ternaDve asset managers  and US banks. However, against the risk-on background for financial  markets , our overweight

exposure to the more defens ive payment and insurance companies  and a smal l  underweight in investment banks  dragged

on performance. O ur fixed income holdings  generated returns  of 12.1% and unsurpris ingly lagged the very strong

performance of equity markets  a l though outperformed the relevant credit markets .

 

Historical  sub-sector weightings

O n a geographical  bas is , whi le the US and Japan were the strongest performing regions  over the year, the Trust's

al locaDon to US insurance stocks  was  a  relaDve drag on our US performance. I n As ia, the relaDve underperformance was

due to underweights  in Austral ia  and China, both of which del ivered beIer than expected performance. We were cauDous

on Austral ia  due to high valuaDons whi le on China we had no exposure when the market ra l l ied sharply on hopes  of a

s igni ficant stimulus  program by the Chinese government.

 

At the s ingle stock level , holdings  in I nteracDve Brokers  Group a US retai l  broker, Rakuten Bank a Japanese bank, and

Barclays  were the largest s ingle contributors  to performance. The first was  a  beneficiary of interest rates  not being cut as

had been expected and a conDnued increase in retai l  trading. Rakuten benefited from the higher outlook for interest rates

in Japan, whi le Barclays  ra l l ied from depressed levels  as  i t benefited from higher earnings  expectaDons in both i ts  retai l

and investment banking arms.

 

The largest individual  detractors  were Sabre I nsurance Group, a  UK  motor insurer, BF F Bank, an I ta l ian bank, and Wel ls

Fargo, a  US bank. Sabre is  one of the smal lest UK  motor insurers  but one of the most profitable due to i ts  focus  on

underwriDng higher risk drivers . However, increased compeDDon led to a  fa l l  in customers, and this  weighed on i ts  share

price. A holding in BF F Bank was bought fol lowing a sharp fa l l  in i ts  share price on the back of an intervenDon from the

Bank of I ta ly but lack of clari ty on a resoluDon led to i ts  shares  treading water. The decis ion to sel l  Wel ls  Fargo was a

relaDve drag as  the stock conDnued to perform wel l  on the expectaDon that the incoming Trump administraDon would l iQ

restrictions  on the bank, fi rst imposed back in 2015.

 

We discuss  performance and investment activi ty by subsector below:

 

Divers i fied financials

Divers ified financials  i s  a  broad category compris ing a l ternaDve asset managers , consumer finance companies , s tock

exchanges, investment banks, retai l  brokers , payment companies , holding companies  and informaDon services

companies . As  a  subsector, divers ified financial  s tocks  was  the best performing category, generaDng porCol io returns  of

40.2% against 39.2% for the index with most of i ts  consDtuents  benefiLng from the "risk on" senDment. AlternaDve asset

managers , consumer finance companies , investment banks  and retai l  brokers  saw the biggest rise in share prices .

We were overweight a l ternaDve asset managers  which was a  strong contributor to performance. They conDnued to benefit

from fund inflows increas ing management fees , and expectaDons of a  pick-up in M&A acDvity, which would increase

performance fees. Also, a  number of them have been added to the S&P 500 Index - KKR & Co joined in June 2024 and Apol lo

after the financial  year end.

 

At the start of the year our largest holdings  were Ares  Management and I ntermediate Capital  Group as  they were both

focused on private credit where we fel t ris ing interest rates  and bond yields  would provide a ta i lwind to demand.

However, with the more pos iDve outlook for financial  markets , we fel t private equity-focused al ternaDve asset managers

would begin to perform better.

 

As  a  result, we bought holdings  in EQT and AnDn I nfrastructure Partners  then rotated into new posiDons in K K R and Blue

O wl  Capital  on the back of a  sharp move in the share prices  of the former. K K R is  one of the largest a l ternaDve asset

managers  global ly. A new holding was a lso purchased in C VC Capital  Partners  when i t l i s ted on the Amsterdam Stock

Exchange on i ts  third aIempt. Later in the period, we sold Blue O wl  Capital  in favour of a  holding in Blackstone which we

saw as  having greater ups ide.

 

We also purchased a holding in BlackRock. BlackRock is  the largest asset manager in the world with over 11.5trn in assets

under management. I t i s  poss ibly best known for the pass ive i Shares  ETF (Exchanged Traded Funds) bus iness  i t acquired

from Barclays  during the global  financial  cris is , a lbeit i t i s  a  very large acDve manager of equity and fixed income funds.



I n the past year, i t has  made several  large acquis iDons, notably Global  I nfrastructure Partners  (GI P ), an infrastructure-

focused asset manager, P reqin, one of the largest data bus inesses  in the al ternaDve asset industry, and H P S, a  private

credit asset manager.

 

Payment companies , exchanges  and informaDon services  companies  saw strong returns  but lagged the subsector

reflecDng their more defens ive characterisDcs  and lower sens iDvity to financial  markets . Payment companies  are large

consDtuents  of the sector, notably Visa and MasterCard. We have long l iked them for their high level  of profitabi l i ty, low-

risk bus iness  model  and growth prospects  from e-commerce spending and the shiQ from cash to cards. Nevertheless , we

reduced our holdings  in both during the period and purchased a holding in F idel i ty NaDonal  I nformaDon Services  which

is  best known for providing core banking software for many banks.

 

I nformaDon services  companies  such as  Moody's  and S&P  Global , the two largest credit raDng agencies , trade on some of

the highest mulDples  in the sector reflecDng their ol igopol isDc characterisDcs  and whi le a  pickup in bond issuance was

supporDve for both companies , on average they lagged the sector. Holdings  in both M S C I  and S&P  Global  were sold during

the year, due to these high valuations  as  we saw them as  vulnerable to any disappointment on growth.

 

O n exchanges, we added to our holding in I nterconDnental  Exchange, the largest exchange holding in the porCol io. I ts

2022 purchase of Black Knight, a  mortgage soQware, data and analyDcs  company, had weighed on i ts  share price but with

interest rates  predicted to fa l l  we expected to see an improvement in the outlook for the bus iness . Also a  new holding was

purchased in Nasdaq, which operates  a  number of stock exchanges  in the US and Europe. S imi larly, an acquis iDon, in this

instance, of Adenza, a  software company, in 2023, had been an overhang on i ts  share price.

 

Consumer finance companies  performed wel l  as  employment data reduced concerns  around del inquencies  on credit card

loans  whi le the incoming Trump administraDon was viewed as  favourable to changes  in late payment fees. O ur main

exposure to the subsector had been to American Express , and we added a new holding in Discover fol lowing the elecDon,

in the expectation that i ts  acquis i tion by Capital  One would be approved and would be very accretive.

 

Banks

The Trust's  porCol io generated an 39.3% return from i ts  banks ' exposure compared with 36.6% for the index. Bank share

prices  were strong as  the reduced tai l  ri sk of an economic downturn resulted in most banks  performing wel l . US banks

saw the largest gains  over the period as  markets  anDcipated an eas ing in capital  requirements , higher fee income from a

pick-up in M&A acDvity helping investment banking revenues and an improving outlook for net interest income, further

fuel led by the election of Donald Trump.

 

Banks' performance by Region

North America
US banks 66.7%
US regional  banks 46.0%
Canadian banks 29.8%
Latin American banks -12.4%
Europe
UK banks 45.2%
Eurozone banks 23.4%
Asia
Austral ian banks 51.7%
Japanese banks 41.0%
Chinese banks 32.2%
Indian banks 15.6%
Source: Bloomberg, 30 November 2024

Note: The figures are in sterling total return terms.	Past performance is not a reliable guide to future performance.

 

At the beginning of the period, the porCol io was  marginal ly overweight US banks  against the Benchmark and, whi le we had

a cauDous outlook, we fel t valuaDons more than discounted the risks . We therefore increased our exposure, adding to

holdings  in US Bancorp, C iDzens  F inancial  Group and East West Bancorp and also started a new holding in C iDgroup

where we saw s igni ficant ups ide i f management could hit financial  targets .

 

Fol lowing a sharp ral ly, we remained overweight large US banks  given their much stronger balance sheets  and the l ikely

benefit of any watering down of proposed new regulatory requirements , but reduced our holdings  in US regional  banks,

due to concerns  around the US office commercial  real  estate market.

 

We saw good opportuniDes  in UK  and European banks  where ris ing interest rates  have led to a  substanDal  increase in

profitabi l i ty. UK  banks  performed extremely wel l  over the year, mostly as  a  result of a  sharp reraDng in valuaDons, whi le

senDment on the subsector was  supported by a  relaDvely res i l ient outlook versus  European peers . This  reflects  the



outlook for relaDvely higher interest rates  in the UK  versus  other European economies, and a greater contribuDon from

interest rate hedges  which offset a  lot of the impact of decl ining interest rates  on earnings.

 

We purchased a new holding in Barclays  which has  performed very poorly over the past 10+ years  due to legacy issues

and structural ly low profitabi l i ty in parts  of i ts  core bus inesses. W ith i ts  valuaDon at the low end of i ts  historical  range

and low expectaDons for management to hit targets  i t was  fel t there was an aIracDve risk/reward payoff with the added

benefi t of a  pickup in activi ty in i ts  investment banking bus inesses.

 

I n Europe our largest holdings  included Unicredit, I ta ly's  second largest bank, Erste Group, one of Austria 's  largest banks

and AI B Group, I reland's  second largest bank. European banks  saw very strong performance in the first hal f of the

reporDng period but lagged their peers  in the second hal f over weakness  in the outlook for the Eurozone economy and

worries  about the impact of lower interest rates . This  led us  to sel l  our holdings  in AI B Group and Banco Santander and

reduce a holding in Bank of Cyprus.

 

Europe saw a pickup in bank M&A activi ty. BBVA, Spain's  second largest bank, made an offer for Banco Sabadel l , a  smal ler

peer whi le Unicredit, took a s ignificant stake in Commerzbank, a  German bank, publ icly staDng i ts  interest in acquiring i t

before making an offer for Banco BP M, the fourth largest I ta l ian bank. AQer the financial  year end Credit Agricole, one of

France's  largest banks, with operations  in Ita ly, announced i t was  looking to increase i ts  stake in Banco BPM.

 

We added to the Trust's  exposure to Mexican banks  in the first hal f, by adding to an exisDng pos iDon in Grupo Financiero

Banorte and starDng a new holding in Gentera, a  smal ler bank that offers  loans  to lower-income customers. We saw

Mexico as  conDnuing to benefit from so-cal led 'friendshoring' as  mulDnaDonal  companies  look to bui ld more

manufacturing operaDons there to ci rcumvent increas ing trade barriers  between the US and China. Later in the period, we

sold our exposure due to concerns  around upcoming elecDons in the US and Mexico. W hi le Mexico should conDnue to be

a net beneficiary of ris ing trade friction between the US and China, that sentiment could change quickly.

 

We started new holdings  in two South Korean banks  which, as  with Japanese and southern European banks, have traded

for some Dme at the lowest valuaDons of the banking sector and below our esDmate of fa i r value. We had remained

cauDous due to an intervenDonist regulator and no obvious  catalysts  for a  reraDng. However, a  push for corporate reform

in South Korea around transparency and capital  return, which has  had reasonable support across  the pol iDcal  spectrum,

has  resulted in more interest from investors . Fol lowing good performance, we reduced our exposure and sold our

remaining holding at a  profi t after the period end due to the pol i tical  cris is  in South Korea.

 

I ndian banks  have cons istently been one of the best performing banking sectors  global ly due to their strong profitabi l i ty

and good growth. However we reduced our exposure due to the outlook being less  favourable around a Dghter l iquidity

environment and a more intervenDonist regulator. Consequently, we sold the Trust's  holding in H D FC Bank, I ndia 's  largest

private bank, which had underperformed fol lowing i ts  merger with parent H D FC. W hi le the merger offers  long-term

synergies , a  requirement to raise deposits  i s  a  headwind to growth and profi tabi l i ty in the short to medium term.

 

Insurance

The Trust's  insurance porCol io returned 26.4% compared to 29.1% for the subsector. I nsurance stocks  performed wel l ,

outperforming wider equity markets  over the period, but were held back by their defens ive characterisDcs  in the "risk on"

market environment. W hi le there has  been some concern around the strength of l iabi l i ty reserves  and the worsening

outlook for property catastrophe rates , US insurers  sDl l  benefited from the twin drivers  of ris ing investment income and

improved underwriting returns.

 

At the beginning of the period we made some smal l  reductions  to our insurance holdings. The most s igni ficant change was

to reduce our exposure to China and Hong Kong by sel l ing holdings  in AI A Group and P rudenDal , both of which had been

signi ficant detractors  from performance over 2023.

 

Large European reinsurance companies  performed wel l , but in contrast, Lloyds  of London and Bermudan reinsurers  saw

more mixed performance. US insurers , with large car and home insurance bus inesses , where we have holdings  in

P rogress ive Corp and Al lstate, performed wel l , but UK  motor insurers  performed poorly. UK  car insurance premiums,

having risen s ignificantly in recent years  to counter the ris ing cost of cla ims, fel l  and even though there were two bids  for

Direct Line Group the first from Ageas, a  Belgian insurer, and then by Aviva, which looks  l ikely to succeed, they sDl l

underperformed the wider insurance sector.

 

We purchased a new holding in Munich Re Group as  we saw i t as  one of the best pos itioned to continue to benefi t from the

strong reinsurance market due to the strength of i ts  balance sheet. We later switched the holding into Hannover Rueck,

a smal ler peer, and less  exposed to large catastrophe events .



a smal ler peer, and less  exposed to large catastrophe events .

 

2024 was expected to see a much larger number of hurricanes  in the AtlanDc make landfal l  and with i t, the risk of large

losses.

 

During the year we added a number of holdings  where there has  been a regulatory intervenDon or a  short report has  been

publ ished, so-cal led as  the research fi rm involved bel ieves  the shares  are overvalued and should be sold or shorted. Short

reports  can vary from the salacious  to dogged hard work. Not surpris ingly, this  leads  to shares  of the companies  fa l l ing,

oQen quite sharply. Assuming that the issues  raised are overstated or of a  temporary nature the publ icaDon of a  short

report can be an excel lent opportunity to buy. Globe Li fe, a  US l i fe assurance company, and Steadfast Group, an Austral ian

insurance broker, fel l  into this  category as  we bel ieve they are two high qual i ty bus inesses  now trading below what we see

as  fa i r value.

 

Fixed-income and unquoted holdings

O ur fixed income exposure reduced s l ightly over the period from 9.4% to 6.3%, as  we took profits  on a number of the

posiDons we had bought in 2023 and prior. We sDl l  see aIracDve risk/reward from holding a  selecDve mixture of senior

and subordinated bonds of European financials  but yields  general ly no longer look as  compel l ing as  they did so returns

going forward wi l l  be much more modest.

 

The Trust has  two holdings  in unquoted companies , of which the largest i s  Moneybox, a  UK  savings  and wealth plaCorm.

Founded in 2015, Moneybox, has  performed very wel l , surpass ing £10bn in assets  under administraDon and more than a

mi l l ion customers. Consequently, due to a  secondary share sale that brought in new investors , including Amundi , one of

the largest European asset managers , the holding was written up to reflect the price at which shares  were sold.

 

Outlook

We remain confident on the outlook for the financials  sector. I t i s  the second largest sector global ly and highly varied

across  banks, insurance companies  and divers ified financials  with companies  that have s ignificant moats  to their

bus iness  models .

 

We conDnue to bel ieve the investment background has  fundamental ly changed from the chal lenges  of the last decade.

I nterest rates  are 'normal is ing' and there is  demand for s ignificant investment in reshoring, defence and decarbonisaDon.

We bel ieve the sector wi l l  be a  key beneficiary of these trends  and is  underpinned by household and corporate balance

sheets  being in healthy shape.

 

The playbook from Trump 1.0 fol lowing the 2016 US elecDon was a  s ignificant ra l ly in financials  but a lso broader equity

markets  which lasted around 18 months. The starDng point for valuaDons is  higher this  Dme and much higher for wider

equity markets  which may temper the s ize of any sustained ral ly from Trump 2.0. There is  concern that Trump wi l l  double-

down on tariffs , negaDvely impacDng non-US markets . Understandably, US equiDes  have benefited already from being

seen as  more defens ive versus  other regional  markets  with s igni ficant inflows into US-focused ETFs.

 

I n November 2016, US equity markets  outperformed non-US equity markets  by 'only' 5.9%, compared to 7.2% this  Dme, but

a year aQer the elecDon US equiDes  had given back that outperformance, a lbeit sDl l  ri s ing by a  very credible 24.3%. W i l l

US equities  give back the outperformance we have seen in 2024? US financials  did not give back their relative performance

in 2017 but the permutaDons this  Dme, exacerbated by ongoing wars  in Ukraine and the Middle East, and a pres ident who

has unfinished bus iness , are bigger so wi l l  l ikely make 2025 a more volati le year for financial  markets  than 2024.

 

Against this  background, the Fed is  pushing back further on the number of interest rate cuts  amid concerns  that inflaDon

is  sDckier than central  banks ' forecasts . This  wi l l  require us  to be pro-acDve in pos iDoning the Trust's  porCol io to benefit

from the sector's  ta i lwinds  and to navigate the risks . Nevertheless , i t i s  worthwhi le reminding ourselves  that high qual i ty

financial  companies  conDnue to compound earnings  and/or book value despite the s ignificant economic and geopol iDcal

noise.

 

O ver the last year we have conscious ly reduced the porCol io's  exposure to banks. The reasons  for this  are two-fold: whi le

we bel ieve many banks  have huge incumbency advantages  so are wel l  pos iDoned looking forward, in the shorter-term we

have seen more aIracDve opportuniDes  in divers ified financials . We have to be conscious  that the share prices  of banks

are also prone to sharp corrections, when sentiment for outlook deteriorates .

 

Banks  have not grown their loan books  materia l ly over recent years  so i t would take a s ignificant economic downturn to

generate losses  that could justi fy the lowly current multiples  that some of them trade on. Equal ly they are not risk-free and

not immune from a downturn. As  a  UK  banks  analyst from K BW, a research firm summed i t up succinctly in a  recent note



(and the analogy can be extrapolated to other banking markets), "I n recent years  UK  banks  have survived a fa l l  in GD P  of

10%, interest rates  ris ing by 5% and inflaDon peaking at more than 11% with zero credit problems." Consequently, we

continue to bel ieve the market is  not giving banks  the credit they deserve for that reduction in risk.

 

The Trust's  largest geographical  exposure is  to US financials  which should be beneficiaries  of a  l ighter regulatory regime

and a more favourable environment for M&A. Lighter regulaDon has  i ts  risks  but the increased regulaDon of the past 15

years  has  weighed heavi ly on economic acDvity and oQen increased costs  for l iIle or no economic benefit. The proposals

in 2023 for a  substanDal  increase in US bank capital  requirements  would have resulted in JP  Morgan requiring a  25%

increase in capital  despite i ts  performance during the global  financial  cris is  and the recent rise in interest rates .

 

These regulations  have been watered down already and are expected to see further revis ion.

 

O ne of our largest overweight pos iDons has  been to a l ternaDve asset managers . The successful  ones  have a bus iness

model  where good investment performance leads  to inflows into their funds  which are mulD-year in nature. Unl ike

tradiDonal  asset managers , capital  entrusted to them is  locked up in funds  that rarely offer short-term l iquidity to

investors  and so their assets  under management offer a  steady stream of income with the poss ibi l i ty of performance fees

on top. Also, they do not suffer from competition and fee pressure from pass ive investments  and ETFs.

 

Payment companies  conDnue to offer an aIracDve counterbalance to the more cycl ical  parts  of the porCol io, reflecDng

their much lower economic sens iDvity. They do not take balance sheet risks  l ike banks  or insurance companies; the switch

from cash to cards  and growth in e-commerce conDnues to drive revenues and profits  over and above what would be

expected from the cycl ical  growth in spending.

 

We conDnue to l ike the insurance sector, in parDcular reinsurance companies , which remain the Trust's  largest

overweight against the Benchmark. W hi le close to or at peak profitabi l i ty, which we expect to decl ine, valuaDons imply

that profitabi l i ty wi l l  fa l l  rapidly, which we think wi l l  be proved wrong. Furthermore, we l ike the defens ive nature of the

insurance bus inesses  to market volaDl i ty. For insurance companies , cla ims are largely the result of accidents  and

weather, not the economic cycle. Furthermore, the float that insurance companies  hold to pay cla ims is  mostly invested in

cash and short-term bonds, therefore large losses  are unl ikely should equity markets  fa l l  sharply.

 

Unsurpris ingly, there has  been an increase in M&A acDvity during 2024; we had a holding in Anima, an I ta l ian asset

manager, that was  in receipt of a  bid from Banco BP M. We expect the M&A trend to conDnue and note that even large

financial  companies  are suscepDble to bids  as  evidenced by Unicredit's  approaches  to Commerzbank and Banco BP M. The

'Danish Compromise' that a l lows banks  to hold less  capital  against their insurance subs idiaries  could be a catalyst for

further bids  in the sector. This  was  key to the bids  by Banco BP M for Anima and BNP  Paribas 's  acquis iDon of AX A

Investment Managers  through BNP's  insurance subs idiary.

 

Smal l -cap financials  have materia l ly derated over the past 10 years  against their larger peers . As  a  result, we see a great

deal  of value in some of the Trust's  smal ler company holdings. These have been a modest drag on relative

performance to date but ulDmately we bel ieve valuaDons wi l l  mean revert as  ei ther strategic or private equity investors

look to take advantage of this  disconnect.

 

F inal ly, a  key aIracDon of the sector overal l  i s  i ts  value characterisDcs . F inancial  companies  on average have nearly

always  traded on lower price-to-book raDos, lower price-to- earnings  raDos and higher dividend yields  than the wider

equity market and consequently are the largest consDtuent of value indices . The discount at which the sector has  traded

widened materia l ly in the lead up to the pandemic reaching i ts  peak of around 45% in O ctober 2020. Today the discount

has  reduced to just under 30%, where i t was  trading pre- pandemic, versus  around 15% in July 2013 when the Trust was

launched, a lbeit today profi tabi l i ty i s  higher than where i t was  at the end of 2019 and in 2013.

 

Against this  background, financials  have del ivered a compound return of around 9.5%pa s ince launch in 2013 and

20.0%pa s ince the last tender offer in 2020. W ith valuaDons for global  equity markets  at the high end of historical

averages  and highly concentrated around a smal l  number of US technology companies , returns  from the wider market are

l ikely to be lower going forward, a l l  things  being equal . I n contrast, the lower valuaDons at which the financials  sector

trades  offer some downside protecDon, should markets  sel l -off, and is  a lso a  l ikely beneficiary of any rotaDon from

growth to value strategies .
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Co-Managers

Polar Capital Global Financials Team



Polar Capital Global Financials Team

19 February 2025

 

Note

We  woul d dra w s ha re hol de rs  a Ie nDon to  www.pol a rca pi ta l gl oba l fi na nci a l s trus t.com for re gul a r monthl y porCol i o

upda te s  a nd comme nta ry.

 

Full Investment Portfolio

As at 30 November 2024

 

Ranking    
Market Value

£'000
% of total net

assets
2024 2023 Stock Sector Country 2024 2023 2024 2023

1 (1) JP Morgan Chase Banks North America 45,025 31,432 7.1% 6.4%
2 (2) Mastercard Financial

Services
North America 28,254 27,136 4.5% 5.6%

3 (7) Bank of America Banks North America 25,594 13,002 4.1% 2.7%
4 (3) Visa Financial

Services
North America 23,130 21,140 3.7% 4.3%

5 (5) Berkshire Hathaway Financial
Services

North America 17,466 16,764 2.8% 3.4%

6  (-) Goldman Sachs
Group

Financial
Services

North America 16,785 - 2.7% -

7  (-) NASDAQ Group Financial
Services

North America 15,329 - 2.4% -

8  (-) Ci tigroup Banks North America 13,914 - 2.2% -
9  (-) Barclays Banks United

Kingdom
13,689 - 2.2% -

10 (44) Sumitomo Mitsui
Financial

Banks Japan 13,526 4,329 2.1% 0.9%

Top 10 investments   212,712  33.8%  
11 (-) Fidel i ty National

Information Services
Financial
Services

North America 13,458 - 2.1% -

12 (-) Globe Li fe Insurance North America 12,845 - 2.0% -
13 (-) Progress ive Corp Insurance North America 12,744 - 2.0% -
14 (43) ICICI Bank Banks Asia  (ex-Japan) 12,617 4,363 2.0% 0.9%
15 (-) Erste Bank Banks Europe 12,214 - 2.0% -
16 (-) Axis  Capital  Holding Insurance North America 12,136 - 1.9% -
17 (-) BlackRock Financial

Services
North America 11,821 - 1.9% -

18 (-) Al lstate Corp Insurance North America 11,677 - 1.9% -
19 (10) RenaissanceRe

Holdings
Insurance North America 11,508 11,237 1.8% 2.3%

20 (-) NatWest Group Banks United
Kingdom

11,060 - 1.8% -

Top 20 investments 334,792  53.2%
21 (39) Intact Financial

Corporation
Insurance North America 10,911 4,871 1.7% 1.0%

22 (59) IG Group Financial
Services

United
Kingdom

10,876 2,940 1.7% 0.6%

23 (23) Beazley Insurance United
Kingdom

10,844 7,422 1.7% 1.5%

24 (32) Ares  Management
Corporation

Financial
Services

North America 10,828 5,932 1.7% 1.2%

25 (30) Intermediate Capital
Group

Financial
Services

United
Kingdom

10,786 6,676 1.7% 1.4%

26 (-) BFF Bank Financial
Services

Europe 10,782 - 1.7% -

27 (25) Intercontinental
Exchange

Financial
Services

North America 10,766 7,271 1.7% 1.5%

28 (-) Interactive Brokers
Group

Financial
Services

North America 10,714 - 1.7% -

29 (13) U.S. Bancorp Banks North America 10,618 8,845 1.7% 1.8%
30 (-) Al l funds  Group Financial

Services
Europe 10,140 - 1.7% -

Top 30 investments 442,057  70.2%
31 (9) Arch Capital Insurance North America 9,956 11,356 1.5% 2.3%
32 (-) Hannover Rueck Insurance Europe 9,261 - 1.5% -
33 (-) UniCredit Banks Europe 8,940 - 1.4% -
34 (-) Tryg Insurance Europe 8,790 - 1.4% -
35 (-)

Deutsche Boerse
Financial
Services

Europe 8,704 - 1.4% -

36 (-)
BlackStone Group

Financial
Services

North America 8,220 - 1.3% -

37 (-) Steadfast Group Insurance Asia (ex-Japan) 7,410 - 1.2% -
38 (-)

Equitable Holdings
Financial
Services

North America 7,370 - 1.2% -

39 (19)
American Express

Financial
Services

North America 7,286 7,987 1.2% 1.6%

40 (-) Rakuten Bank Banks Japan 7,076 - 1.1% -

http://www.polarcapitalglobalfinancialstrust.com


Rakuten Bank
Top 40 investments 525,070  83.4%

41 (-) Discover Financial
Services

Financial
Services

North America 6,724 - 1.1% -

42 (-) Regions  Financial Banks North America 6,444 - 1.0% -
43 (-) KB Financial  Group Banks Asia  (ex-Japan) 6,197 - 1.0% -
44 (-) Fi rst Horizon

National
Banks North America 6,154 - 1.0% -

45 (-) Mercadol ibre Financial
Services

Latin America 6,086 - 0.9% -

46 (-) Zions  Bancorp Banks North America 5,859 - 0.9% -
47 (-) Bank of Cyprus

Holdings
Banks Europe 5,609 - 0.9% -

48 (-) Sabre Insurance
Group

Insurance United
Kingdom

5,584 - 0.9% -

49 (-) Hong Leong Bank Banks Asia  (ex-Japan) 5,539 - 0.9% -
50 (-) BDO Unibank Banks Asia  (ex-Japan) 5,467 - 0.9% -

Top 50 investments 584,733  92.9%
51 (49) Moneybox (unquoted) Financial

Services
United
Kingdom

5,418 3,773 0.9% 0.8%

52 (-) CVC Capital  Partners Financial
Services

Europe 5,414 - 0.9% -

53 (37) Bank Central  As ia
Indonesia

Banks Asia  (ex-Japan) 5,370 4,946 0.8% 1.0%

54 (48) Macquarie Group Financial
Services

As ia  (ex-Japan) 5,202 4,125 0.8% 0.8%

55 (-) Irish Res identia l
Properties  REIT

Equity
Real  Estate
Investment
Trusts
(REITs)

Europe 4,412 - 0.7% -

56 (-) International
Personal  Finance
10.75% 2029 Bond

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 4,328 - 0.6% -

57 (60) Lancashire 5.625%
2041 Bond

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 3,167 2,820 0.5% 0.6%

58 (62) Rothesay Li fe 4.875%
Perp Bond

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 2,987 2,487 0.5% 0.5%

59 (63) Pension Insurance
7.375% Perp Bond

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 2,696 2,480 0.4% 0.5%

60 (-) Deutsche Betei l igungs
5.5% 2030
Convertible Bond

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 2,373 - 0.4% -

Top 60 investments 626,100  99.4%
61 (78) VEF Financial

Services
Europe 2,372 1,526 0.4% 0.3%

62 (71) Aviva 6.875% Perp
Bond

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 2,203 2,008 0.4% 0.4%

63 (79) Investec preference Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 2,181 1,391 0.3% 0.3%

64 (-) Atom Bank 11.5%
2035 Bond

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 2,103 - 0.3% -

65 (90) Li tigation Capital
Management

Financial
Services

As ia  (ex-Japan) 1,898 1,049 0.3% 0.2%

66 (75) Rothesay Li fe 6.875%
Perp Bond

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 1,853 1,672 0.3% 0.3%

67 (74) CaixaBank 8.25%
Perp Bond

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 1,821 1,747 0.3% 0.4%

68 (72) Riverstone Credit
Opportunities

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 1,761 1,939 0.3% 0.4%

69 (80) Rothesay Li fe 5% Perp
Bond

Fixed
Income

Fixed Income 1,624 1,386 0.3% 0.3%

70 (-) Jackson Financial Insurance North America 1,572 - 0.2% -

Top 70 Investments 645,488  102.5%

71 (77) Vanquis  Banking
Group 8.875% 2032
Bond

Fixed
Income Fixed Income

1,424 1,535 0.2% 0.3%

72 (83) Nationwide Bui lding
Society 5.75% Perp
Bond

Fixed
Income Fixed Income

1,377 1,258 0.2% 0.3%

73 (96) Permanent TSB Group
13.25% Perp Bond

Fixed
Income Fixed Income

1,375 195 0.2% 0.0%

74 (84) Shawbrook Group 9%
2030 Bond

Fixed
Income Fixed Income

1,313 1,246 0.2% 0.3%

75 (92)
Personal  Group Insurance

United
Kingdom

1,302 566 0.2% 0.1%

76 (87) Shawbrook Group
12.25% 2034 Bond

Fixed
Income Fixed Income

1,284 1,194 0.2% 0.2%

77 (82) Atom Bank
(unquoted) Banks

United
Kingdom

1,281 1,281 0.2% 0.3%

78 (89) Chesnara 4.75% 2032
Bond

Fixed
Income Fixed Income

1,222 1,049 0.2% 0.2%

79 (88) Hel lenic Bank 10.25%
2033 Bond

Fixed
Income Fixed Income

1,134 1,065 0.2% 0.2%

80 (-) Coventry Bui lding
Society 8.75% Perp Fixed

1,029 - 0.2% -



Bond Income Fixed Income
Top 80 Investments 658,229 104.5%

81 (70) VPC Special ty Lending
Investments

Fixed
Income Fixed Income

1,014 2,014 0.2% 0.4%

82 (-) National
Westminster 9% Pref
Share

Fixed
Income Fixed Income

700 - 0.1% -

Total Investments 659,943  104.8%
Other net liabilities  (30,265)  (4.8%)
Total net assets 629,678  100.0%

 

Note: Figures  in brackets  denote comparative rankings  as  at 30 November 2023.

 
Portfolio Review

 As  at 30 November 2024	
Geographical Exposure*

Benchmark weighting
as at 30 November 2024**

30 November
2024 30 November	2023

North America 58.9% 61.0% 52.2%
Europe 12.6% 14.0% 16.2%
United Kingdom 4.0% 11.3% 11.6%
Asia (ex-Japan) 15.4% 7.9% 13.3%
Fixed Income - 6.5% 9.7%
Japan 4.5% 3.2% 1.7%
Latin America 0.9% 0.9% 1.4%
Other net l iabi l i ties - (4.8%) (6.1%)
Total  100.0% 100.0%
 

 

Sector Exposure*
Benchmark weighting

as at 30 November 2024**
30 November

2024 30 November 2023
Financial  services 39.5% 42.4% 31.2%
Banks 41.3% 35.3% 43.3%
Insurance 18.7% 19.9% 21.9%
Fixed Income - 6.5% 9.7%
Equity Real  Estate I nvestment
Trusts  (REITs)

- 0.7% -

Other net l iabi l i ties - (4.8%) (6.1%)
Total  100.0% 100.0%
 

 

Market	Capitalisation*~
Benchmark weighting

as at 30 November 2024** 30 November 2024 30 November 2023
Mega Cap 39.7% 33.5% 37.8%
Large Cap 34.2% 24.5% 32.5%
Mid Cap 17.5% 12.8% 10.8%
Smal l  Cap 7.5% 15.6% 7.6%
Smal lest Cap 0.7% 11.9% 7.7%
Fixed Income - 6.5% 9.7%
Other net l iabi l i ties - (4.8%) (6.1%)
Total  100.0% 100.0%
 

 

* Based on the net assets  as  at 30 November 2024 of £629.7m (2023: £488.2m)

 

**The class ificaDons are derived from the Benchmark as  far as  poss ible. Not a l l  geographical  areas  or sectors  of the

Benchmark are shown, only those in which the Company had an investment at the year end.

 

~ W ith effect from January 2024, the market capital isaDon bandings  were changed to "dynamic" and are therefore subject

to change. The dynamic market capital isaDon is  determined based on the percenDles  of the total  index market

capital isaDon. The mega caps  correspond to the 40th percenDle, large caps  to the 70th percenDle, mid caps  to the 90th

percenDle, and smal l  caps  to the 99th percenDle. The year ended 30 November 2023 data has  been re-presented based on

the dynamic market capital isation.

 
 
STRATEGIC REPORT

The Strategic Report secDon of this  Annual  Report comprises  the Chair's  Statement, the I nvestment Manager's  Report,

including informaDon on the porCol io, and this  Strategic Report. This  Report has  been prepared to provide informaDon to

Shareholders  on the Company's  strategy and the potenDal  for this  strategy to succeed, including a  fa i r review of the

Company's  performance during the year ended 30 November 2024, the pos iDon of the Company at the year end and a



Company's  performance during the year ended 30 November 2024, the pos iDon of the Company at the year end and a

descripDon of the principal  risks  and uncertainDes, including both economic and bus iness  risk factors , underlying any

such forward-looking information.

 

Business Model and Regulatory Arrangements

The Company's  bus iness  model  fol lows that of an external ly managed investment trust providing Shareholders  with

access  to a  portfol io of mostly l i s ted or quoted securi ties  i ssued by companies  in the financial  sector. Its  shares  are l i s ted

on the main market of the London Stock Exchange.

 

The Company is  des ignated an AlternaDve I nvestment Fund ('AI F ') under the AlternaDve I nvestment Fund Management

DirecDve ('AI F M D') and, as  required by the DirecDve, has  contracted with Polar Capital  LLP  to act as  the AlternaDve

Investment Fund Manager ('AIFM') and HSBC Bank Plc to act as  the Depositary.

 

Both the AI F M and the Depositary have responsibi l iDes  under AI F M D for ensuring that the assets  of the Company are

managed in accordance with the investment pol icy and are held in safe custody. The Board remains  responsible for

seLng the investment strategy and operaDonal  guidel ines  as  wel l  as  meeDng the requirements  of the F inancial  Conduct

Authori ty ('FCA') Listing Rules  and the Companies  Act 2006.

 

The AI F M D requires  certain informaDon to be made avai lable to investors  in AI Fs  before they invest and requires  that

materia l  changes  to this  informaDon be disclosed in the Annual  Report of each AI F. I nvestor Disclosure Documents , which

set out informaDon on the Company's  investment strategy and pol icies , gearing, risk, l iquidity, administraDon,

management, fees , confl icts  of interest and other Shareholder information are avai lable on the Company's  website.

 

There have been no materia l  changes  to the informaDon requiring disclosure. Any informaDon requiring immediate

disclosure pursuant to the AI F M D wi l l  be disclosed to the London Stock Exchange. Statements  from the Depositary and the

AIFM can be found on the Company's  website.

 

Investment Objective and Policy

The Company's  investment objecDve is  to generate for investors  a  growing dividend income together with capital

appreciaDon. The Company seeks  to achieve i ts  objecDve by invesDng in a  global  porCol io primari ly cons isDng of l i s ted

or quoted securiDes  issued by companies  in the financial  sector operaDng in banking, insurance, property and other

subsectors . The portfol io is  divers i fied by geography, industry subsectors  and stock market capital isation.

 

The Company may have a smal l  exposure to unl isted and unquoted companies , but in aggregate, this  i s  not expected to

exceed 10% of total  assets  at the Dme of investment. The Company wi l l  not invest more than 10% of total  assets , at the

Dme of investment, in other l i s ted closed-ended investment companies  and no s ingle investment wi l l  account for more

than 10% of the portfol io at the time of investment.

 

The Company may employ levels  of borrowing from Dme to Dme with the aim of enhancing returns. This  i s  currently

subject to an overal l  maximum of 20% (increased from 15% at the Dme of the reconstrucDon in Apri l  2020) of net assets  at

the Dme the relevant borrowing is  taken out. Actual  levels  of borrowing may change from Dme to Dme based on the

Manager's  assessment of risk and reward. The Company may invest through equiDes, index-l inked and other debt

securiDes, cash deposits , money market instruments , foreign currency exchange transacDons, forward transacDons, index

opDons and other instruments  including derivaDves. Forward transacDons, derivaDves  (including put and cal l  opDons on

individual  pos iDons or indices) and parDcipaDon notes  may be used to gain exposure to the securiDes  of companies

fal l ing within the Company's  investment pol icy or to seek to generate income from the Company's  pos iDon in such

securiDes, as  wel l  as  for efficient porCol io management. Any use of derivaDves  for investment purposes  is  made based on

the same principles  of risk spreading and divers ificaDon that apply to the Company's  direct investments . The Company

may hedge exposure to foreign currencies  i f cons idered appropriate for efficient portfol io management.

Strategy and Investment Approach

The Manager's  investment process  is  primari ly driven by a  bottom-up fundamental  analys is  of individual  companies , with

macroeconomic inputs . The Manager uses  both quanDtaDve and qual i taDve screens  to rank companies  on a risk-adjusted

bas is  us ing a  number of variables  such as  profitabi l i ty, ri sk, growth and ES G metrics  which is  in addiDon to more detai led

stock or sector-specific research. The PorCol io Managers  undertake trips  to the US, Europe and As ia  to meet companies  as

wel l  as  regularly meeting companies  at various  conferences  and at the Polar offices .

 

The porCol io is  primari ly invested in companies  with a  market capital isaDon greater than US 5bn. There are no l imits  on

the exposure of the investment porCol io to ei ther smal l  or mid-cap companies  where the Managers  take pos iDons on an

opportunistical ly bas is . The Manager has  discretion to invest up to 10% of the portfol io in debt securi ties .



opportunistical ly bas is . The Manager has  discretion to invest up to 10% of the portfol io in debt securi ties .

 

The investment porCol io is  invested in a  variety of companies  that offer both income and capital  growth. This  i s  balanced

in order to meet the Company's  objecDve of growing dividends to Shareholders  over Dme. The Board, together with the

Manager wi l l  conDnue to assess  the l ikely income capabi l i ty of the porCol io to determine the appropriate longer-term

distribuDon level . P lease refer to the Chair's  Statement for informaDon on the proposed changes  to the Company's  future

Dividend Pol icy.

 

Service Providers

Polar Capital  LLP  has  been appointed to act as  the I nvestment Manager and AI F M as  wel l  as  to provide or procure

company secretaria l , markeDng and administraDve services , including accounDng and porCol io valuaDon which i t has

arranged to del iver through HSBC Securi ties  Services  ("HSS").

 

The Company also contracts  directly, on terms agreed periodical ly, with several  third parDes  for the provis ion of

special is t services:

 

·     	HSBC Securi ties  Services  as  Custodian and Depositary;

·     	Sti fel  Nicolaus  Europe Limited as  Corporate Broker;

·     	Equiniti  Limited as  Share Registrars ;

·     	PricewaterhouseCoopers  LLP as  Independent Auditors ;

·     	RD:IR for Investor Relations  and Shareholder Analys is ;

·     	Marten & Co as  third-party research providers ;

·     	Camarco as  PR advisors ;

·     	Perivan as  Des igners  and Printers  for shareholder communications; and

·     	Huguenot Limited as  Website Des igners  and internet hosting services .

 

Benchmark

The Company measures  the Manager's  performance against the M S C I  AC W I  Financials  Net Total  Return I ndex ('the

Benchmark'). This  has  been used to measure the performance of the Company s ince 23 Apri l  2020. The Manager does  not

seek to repl icate the index in construcDng the Company's  porCol io. The porCol io may, therefore, diverge substanDal ly

from the consti tuents  of the Benchmark.

 

Although the Company evaluates  i ts  performance against the Benchmark, this  i s  neither a  target nor a  determinant of

investment strategy. The purpose of the Benchmark is  to set out a  reasonable measure of performance for Shareholders

and an appropriate base which, together with an addiDonal  hurdle, forms the level  above which the Manager earns  a

performance fee.

 

Investment Management Company and Management of the Portfolio

As the Company is  an investment vehicle for Shareholders , the Directors  have sought to ensure that the bus iness  of the

Company is  managed by a  leading special is t investment management team and that the investment strategy is  aIracDve

to Shareholders . The Directors  bel ieve that a  strong working relaDonship with the Manager wi l l  achieve the opDmum

return for Shareholders . As  such, the Board and Manager operate in a  supportive, co-operative and open environment.

 

The I nvestment Manager is  Polar Capital  LLP  ("Polar Capital") which is  authorised and regulated by the F inancial  Conduct

Authori ty, to act as  I nvestment Manager and AI F M of the Company with sole responsibi l i ty for the discreDonary

management of the Company's  assets  (including uninvested cash) and sole responsibi l i ty for decis ions  as  to the purchase

and sale of individual  investments . The Manager a lso has  responsibi l i ty for asset a l locaDon within the l imits  of the

investment pol icy and guidel ines  establ ished and regularly reviewed by the Board, a l l  subject to the overal l  control  and

supervis ion of the Board. Polar Capital  provides  a  team of five financial  specia l is ts  with the porCol io jointly managed by

Nick Brind, George Barrow and Tom Dorner. The Manager has  other investment resources  which support the investment

team and has  experience in administering and managing other investment companies .

 

Fee Arrangements

Management Fee

Under the terms of the I M A, the Manager is  enDtled to a  management fee together with reimbursement of reasonable

expenses  incurred by i t in the performance of i ts  duDes. The Management fee is  payable monthly in arrears  and, with

effect from 7 Apri l  2020, i s  charged at a  rate of 0.70% per annum of the Company's  NAV. I n accordance with the Directors '

pol icy on the al locaDon of expenses  between income and capital , in each financial  year 80% of the management fee

payable is  charged to capital  and the remaining 20% to revenue.

 



 

Performance Fee

The Manager may be enti tled to a  performance fee equal  to 10% of the excess  of the performance fee hurdle and payable at

the end of each five-year period, the first period being from 23 Apri l  2020 to 30 June 2025 and at five yearly intervals

thereafter.

 

For the purpose of calculaDng the performance fee, the Company's  NAV (adjusted to reflect dividends paid, and any

performance impact caused by the issue or buyback of ordinary shares) at 30 June 2025, being the end of the relevant

Performance Period, wi l l  be used. No performance fee has  been paid or accrued as  at 30 November 2024. W here a

performance fee becomes payable i t wi l l  be charged 100% to capital .

 

Termination Arrangements

The I M A may be terminated by ei ther party giving 12 months ' noDce. The I M A may be terminated earl ier by the Company

with immediate effect on the occurrence of certain events , including: (i ) i f an order has  been made or an effecDve

resoluDon passed for the l iquidaDon of the Manager; (i i ) i f the Manager ceases  or threatens  to cease to carry on i ts

bus iness; (i i i ) where the Company is  required to do so by a  relevant regulatory authori ty; (iv) on the l iquidaDon of the

Company; or (v) subject to certain condiDons, where the Manager commits  a  materia l  breach of the I M A. I n the event the

I M A is  terminated by the Company, except in the event of terminaDon by the Company for certain specified causes, the

base fee and the performance fee wi l l  be calculated pro rata for the period up to and including the date of termination.

 

Performance and Key Performance Objectives

The Board appraises  the performance of the Company and the Manager as  the key suppl ier of services  to the Company

against

key performance indicators  ('K P I s '). The objecDves  of the K P I s  comprise both specific financial  and Shareholder related

measures.

These KPIs  have not di ffered from the prior year.

 

KPI Control process  Outcome
The provis ion of investment returns
to Shareholders  measured by long-
term NAV total  return relaDve to the
Benchmark and a comparator group.

The Board reviews at each meeDng
the performance of the porCol io and
considers  the views of the Manager
and the value del ivered to
Shareholders  through NAV growth
and dividends paid.
 
The Board also receives  monthly
reports  on performance against both
the Benchmark and a comparator
group of open-ended investment
funds.

The Company's  NAV total  return, over
the year ended 30 November 2024,
was 34.8%* whi le the Benchmark
del ivered 36.1% over the same
period. S ince incepDon the NAV total
return was 199.2%* compared to
204.8% for the Benchmark and
161.8% for a  comparator group.
 
As  at 30 November 2024 the Company
ranks  9 out of a  comparator group of
31 open ended funds within the
Lipper F inancial  Sector universe
s ince incepDon and 4 out of 6 within
a smal ler comparable group of funds
regularly cons idered by the Board.
 

The achievement of a  progress ive
dividend pol icy.~
 

F inancial  forecasts  are reviewed to
track income and Distributions.

A total  of two interim dividends
amounDng to 4.70p (2023: 4.55p) per
ordinary share have been paid or
declared in respect of the financial
year ended 30 November 2024. W hi le
the aim to achieve dividend growth
remains  there is  no guarantee that
this  can be achieved.
 

Monitoring and reacDng to issues
created by the discount or premium
of the ordinary share price to the
NAV per ordinary share with the aim
of reducing volaDl i ty for
Shareholders .

The Board receives  regular
informaDon on the composiDon of
the share register including trading
paIerns  and discount/premium
levels  of the Company's  ordinary
shares. The Board discusses  and
authorises  the issue or buy back of
shares  when appropriate.
 
The Board is  aware of the vulnerabi l i ty
of a  sector specia l is t investment trust
to a  change in investor senDment
towards  that sector. W hi le there is  no
formal  pol icy the Board discusses  the
market factors  giving rise to any
discount or premium, the long or
short-term nature of those factors  and
the overal l  benefit to Shareholders  of
any miDgaDng acDons. The market
l iquidity i s  a lso cons idered when
authoris ing the issue or buy back of
shares  when appropriate market

The discount of the ordinary share
price to the NAV per ordinary share at
the year-end was 5.5%* compared
with a  discount of 12.2% at the year
ended 30 November 2023. The
average discount
for the investment trust sector at 30
November 2024 was 15.6%.
 
During the year under review, the
Company bought back 5,642,322
ordinary shares  at an average
discount of 8.9%. No ordinary shares
were  bought back fol lowing the year
end. Al l  shares  bought back have
been placed into treasury for reissue
to the market under the appropriate
conditions.



shares  when appropriate market
conditions  prevai l .

 
A dai ly NAV per share, calculated in
accordance with the AI C  guidel ines  is
issued to the London Stock exchange.
 

To qual i fy and conDnue to meet the
requirements  for SecDons 1158 and
1159 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010
('investment trust status ').

The Board receives  regular financial
informaDon which discloses  the
current and projected financial
pos iDon of the Company against each
of the tests  set out in SecDons 1158
and 1159.

The Company has  been granted
investment trust status  annual ly
s ince i ts  launch on 1 July 2013 and is
deemed to be granted such status  for
each subsequent year subject to the
Company conDnuing to saDsfy the
condiDons of SecDon 1158 of the
CorporaDon Tax Act 2010 and other
associated ongoing requirements .
The Directors  bel ieve that the tests
have been met in the financial  year
ended 30 November 2024 and wi l l
continue to be met.
 

Efficient operaDon of the Company
with appropriate investment
management resources  and services
from third party suppl iers  within a
stable and risk control led
environment.
 

 Annual ly the Board cons iders  the
services  provided by the Manager,
both investment and administraDve,
and reviews the provis ion of services
from third parDes  including the costs
of their services .
 
The annual  operaDng expenses  are
reviewed and any non-recurring
project related expenditure approved
by the Board.

The Board, through the Audit
CommiIee has  received and
considered saDsfactory the internal
controls  report of the Manager and
other key suppl iers  including
conDngency arrangements  to
faci l i tate the ongoing operaDons of
the Company in the event of
withdrawal  or fa i lure of services .
 
The ongoing charges  for the year
ended 30 November 2024 excluding
the performance fee were 0.85% of
net assets  (2023: 0.86%)*. The
ongoing charges  including the
performance fee payable were 0.85%
(2023: 0.86%)*.

* Alternative Performance Measures, see below for further explanations .

~ Please refer to the Chair's Statement for information on the proposed changes to the Company's future Dividend Policy.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is  responsible for the management of risks  faced by the Company. Through delegaDon to the Audit CommiIee, i t

has  establ ished procedures  to manage risk, oversee the internal  control  framework and determine the nature and extent of

the principal  risks  the Company is  wi l l ing to take to achieve i ts  long-term strategic objectives .

 

The establ ished risk management process  the Company fol lows identi fies  and assesses  various  risks , their l ikel ihood, and

poss ible severi ty of impact, cons idering both internal  and external  controls  and factors  that could provide mitigation.

A post mitigation risk impact score is  then determined for each principal  risk.

 

The Audit CommiIee carries  out, at least annual ly, a  robust assessment of the principal  risks  and uncertainDes. W ith the

ass istance of the Manager, i t monitors  identi fied risks  and meets  to discuss  both long-term and emerging risks .

 

During the year the Audit CommiIee, in conjuncDon with the Board and the Manager, undertook a ful l  review of the

Company's  Risk Map including the miDgaDng factors  and controls  to reduce the impact of the risks . The CommiIee

conDnues to closely monitor these risks  a long with any other emerging risks  as  they develop and implements  miDgaDng

actions  as  necessary.

 

The CommiIee is  mindful  of the geopol iDcal  pol iDcal  landscape, specifical ly the ongoing mi l i tary acDvity in Ukraine and

the Middle East. Geopol iDcal  events  such as  these can have a s ignificant impact on global  financial  markets , and hence

on the Company's  porCol io performance. Further informaDon on how the CommiIee has  assessed the Company's  abi l i ty

to operate as  a  going concern and the Company's  longer-term viabi l i ty can be found in the Report of the Audit CommiIee

in the Annual  Report.

 

The principal  risks  are detai led on the fol lowing pages  a long with a  high-level  summary of their management through

mitigation over the past financial  year.

Investor Manager Performance

Principal Business Risks and Uncertainties Management of Risks through Mitigation & Controls
Fai lure to achieve investment objecDve, investment
performance below agreed benchmark objecDve or
market/ industry average.

The Board seeks  to manage the impact of such risks
through regular reporDng and monitoring of investment
performance against a  comparator group of open-ended
funds, the Benchmark and other agreed indicators  of
relaDve performance. I n months  when the Board is  not
scheduled to meet, i t receives  a  monthly report containing
financial  informaDon on the Company including gearing



and cash balances.

Performance and strategy are reviewed throughout the year
at regular Board meeDngs where the Board can chal lenge
the Manager. The Board also receives  a  monthly
commentary from the Manager in the form of factsheets  for
al l  the special is t financial  sector funds  managed by Polar
Capital .

 
The Board is  commiIed to a  clear communicaDon
programme to ensure Shareholders  understand the
investment strategy. This  i s  maintained us ing monthly
factsheets  which have a market commentary from the
Manager as  wel l  as  porCol io data, an informaDve website
as  wel l  as  annual  and hal f year reports . The Management
Engagement CommiIee cons iders  the suitabi l i ty of the
Manager based on performance and other services
provided.
 

Loss  of portfol io manager or other key staff. The strength and depth of investment team provides
comfort that there is  not over-rel iance on one person with
alternaDve porCol io managers  avai lable to act i f needed.
For each key bus iness  process  roles , responsibi l iDes  and
reporDng l ines  are clear and unambiguous. Key personnel
are incenDvised by equity parDcipaDon in the investment
management company.
 

The abi l i ty to conDnue the dividend pol icy* may be
compromised due to lower income because of changes  in
underlying companies ' pol icies  or changes  in the
porCol io construcDon, regulatory intervenDon, local
taxes  because of the currency exposure underlying the
porCol io. This  could result in a  lower level  of dividend
being paid than intended or previous ly paid

The Board monitors  the level  of investment income
through monthly management accounts  and discuss ion. In
the event of there being insufficient income during the
financial  year, the Company has  bui l t up revenue reserves
on which to draw to pay dividends. Equal ly, in the event of
the revenue reserves  being ful ly uDl ised the Company may
use other distributable reserves.
 
The Board and the Manager wi l l  conDnue to assess  the
income capabi l i ty of the porCol io and determine the
appropriate longer-term dividend level  based on how
economies  and bus inesses  perform.
 

Risk of regular five yearly tenders  being taken up at a  level
which leaves  s ize of the Company unviable.

Under the ArDcles  of AssociaDon, the Company is  required
to make tender offers  at five-yearly intervals , with the first
to commence on or before 30 June 2025. There is  a  risk
that the s ize of the Company fol lowing the tender offer
may not meet the minimum s ize condiDon to conDnue in
existence.
 
The Board, I nvestment Manager and Corporate Broker
maintain a  close relaDonship with Shareholders . Regular
reports  are provided to the Board on communicaDons
with Shareholders  and feedback received is  discussed at
Board meeDngs. Ahead of the tender, further engagement
wi l l  be held with Shareholders  and an assessment wi l l  be
undertaken to determine Shareholders  l ikely to remain
invested in the Company post tender.

Market, Economic and Political Risk
Principal Business Risks and Uncertainties Management of Risks through Mitigation & Controls
W hile the porCol io is  divers ified across  a  number of
stock markets  worldwide, the investment mandate is
focused on financials  and thus  the porCol io is  more
sens iDve to investor senDment and the commercial
acceptance of the sector than a general  investment
portfol io.
 
The Company's  porCol io is  exposed to risks  such as
market price, credit, l iquidity, foreign currency and
interest rates . The porCol io is  acDvely managed. The
Manager's  style focuses  primari ly on the investment
opportunity of individual  stocks  and, accordingly, may
not fol low the makeup of the Benchmark. This  may result
in returns  which are not in l ine with the Benchmark.
 
The degree of risk which the Manager incurs  in order to
generate the investment returns  and the effect of gearing
on the porCol io by borrowed funds can magnify the
portfol io returns  per share pos itively or negatively.

The Board has  set appropriate investment l imits  against
which i t monitors  the pos ition of the portfol io. They include
guidel ines  on exposures  to certain investment markets  and
sectors . The Board discusses  with the Manager at each
Board meeting i ts  views on the sector.
 
At each Board meeDng the composiDon and divers ificaDon
of the porCol io by geographies , sectors  and capital isaDons
are cons idered along with sales  and purchases  of
investments . I ndividual  investments  are discussed with the
Manager as  wel l  as  the Manager's  general  views on the
various  investment markets  and the financials  sector.
 
AnalyDcal  performance data and aIribuDon analys is  i s
presented by the Manager.
 
The pol icies  for managing the risks  posed by exposure to
market prices , interest rates , foreign currency exchange
rates , credit and l iquidity are set out in the financial
statements . Shareholders  have s ight of the enDre porCol io
and geographic exposure of investments .
 

There is  s ignificant exposure to the economic cycles  of the
markets  in which the underlying investments  conduct
their bus iness  operaDons as  wel l  as  the economic impact
on investment markets  where such investments  are l i s ted.
 
The fluctuaDons of exchange rates  can also have a
materia l  impact on Shareholder returns.

The Board regularly discusses  global  geopol iDcal  i ssues
and general  economic conditions  and developments .
 
The impact on the porCol io from other geopol iDcal
changes  and the overal l  economic and geopol iDcal
environment in which the Company operates  is  monitored
through exisDng control  systems and discussed regularly
by the Board.



by the Board.

Note 27 in the Annual  Report describes  the risks  posed by
changes  in foreign exchange rates . The Manager can hedge
foreign currency i f i t i s  thought appropriate at the time.
 

Operational and Regulatory Risk
Principal Business Risks and Uncertainties Management of Risks through Mitigation & Controls
There are risks  from the fa i lure of, or disrupDon to,
operaDonal  and accounDng systems and processes
provided by the Manager including any subcontractors  to
which the Manager has  delegated a task as  wel l  as  directly
appointed suppl iers .

The mis-valuaDon of investments  or the loss  of assets  from
the custodian or sub custodians  could affect the NAV per
share or lead to a  loss  of Shareholder value.

There is  taxaDon risk that the Company may fa i l  to
conDnue as  an investment trust and suffer capital  gains
tax or fa i l  to recover as  ful ly as  poss ible withholding taxes
on overseas  investments .

The legal  and regulatory risks  include fa i lure to comply
with the FC A's  P rospectus  Rules , LisDng Rules  and
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules; not meeDng
the provis ions  of the Companies  Act 2006 and other UK
and overseas  legis laDon affecDng UK  companies  and not
complying with accounDng standards. Further risks  arise
from not keeping abreast of changes  in legis laDon and
regulations  which have in recent years  been substantia l .
 
 
 

At each Board meeDng the Board receives  an
administraDon report that provides  detai ls  on general
corporate maIers  including legis laDve and regulatory
developments  and changes.

The Board conducts  an annual  review of suppl iers  and
their internal  control  reports , which includes  the disaster
recovery procedures  of the Manager.

Regular reporDng from the Depositary on the safe custody
of the Company's  assets  and the operaDon of control
systems related to the porCol io reconci l iaDon is
monitored. Special is t advice is  sought on taxaDon issues
as  and when required. The Audit CommiIee has  overs ight
of such work.

I nformaDon and guidance on legal  and regulatory risks  i s
managed by us ing the Manager or profess ional  advisers
where necessary and the submiss ion of reports  to the
Board for discuss ion and, i f required, any remedial  acDon
or changes  cons idered necessary. The Board monitors  new
developments  and changes  in the regulatory environment.
W hi lst i t has  no control  over such changes, the Board
seeks  to ensure that their impact on the Company is
understood and compl ied with.

Cyber-aIack caus ing disrupDon to or fa i lure of
operaDonal  and accounDng systems and processes
provided by the I nvestment Manager creaDng an
unexpected event and/or adverse impact on personnel  or
the portfol io.
 

The number, severi ty and success  rate of cyber-aIacks
have increased cons iderably over recent years . Detai led
controls  are in place and the Board proacDvely seeks  to
keep abreast of developments  through updates  with
representaDves  of the I nvestment Manager who undertakes
meetings  with relevant service providers .

Investor Relations and Stewardship
Principal Business Risks and Uncertainties Management of Risks through Mitigation & Controls
Pers istent excess ive share price premium/discount to
NAV.

I n consultaDon with i ts  advisors , including the corporate
broker, the Board regularly cons iders  the level  of the
share price premium/discount to the NAV and the Board
reviews ways  to enhance Shareholder value including
share issuance and buy backs .
 

Fai lure to communicate effecDvely and Dmeously with
investors  or the issuance of erroneous or mis leading
information.

Polar Capital  Sales  Team and the Corporate Broker
provide periodic reports  to the Board on communicaDons
with shareholders  and feedback received.
 
The I nvestment Manager a lso has  regular interacDon with
cl ients , Shareholders  and investors . This  i s  through a
combinaDon of channels  including one to one meeDngs,
presentaDons at retai l , profess ional  events  or at Polar's
Annual  Investor conference.
 
The Board is  commiIed to a  clear communicaDon
programme to ensure Shareholders  understand the
investment strategy. This  i s  maintained us ing monthly
factsheets  which have market commentary from the
I nvestment Manager porCol io data, an informaDve
website and annual  and hal f year reports . Contact detai ls
and how to contact the Board are provided in regulatory
announcements  and the Board wi l l  be present at the AGM
to speak to Shareholders .

* Pl e a s e  re fe r to the  Cha i r's  Sta te me nt for i nforma ti on on the  propos e d cha nge s  to the  Compa ny's  future  Di vi de nd Pol i cy.

 

SECTION 172 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006

 

The statutory duDes of the Directors  are l i s ted in s171-177 of the Companies  Act 2006. Under s172, Directors  have a duty

to promote the success  of the Company for the benefit of i ts  members  (i ts  Shareholders) as  a  whole and in doing so have

regard to the consequences  of any decis ion in the long term, as  wel l  as  having regard to the Company's  wider stakeholders

amongst other cons ideraDons. The fulfilment of this  duty not only helps  the Company achieve i ts  I nvestment O bjecDve but

ensures  decis ions  are made in a  responsible and sustainable way for Shareholders .

 

To ensure that the Directors  are aware of, and understand, their duDes, they are provided with an inducDon when they

first join the Board, including detai ls  of a l l  relevant regulatory and legal  duDes as  a  director and conDnue to receive

regular and ongoing updates  on relevant legis laDve and regulatory developments . They have conDnued access  to the

advice and services  of the Company Secretary and, when deemed necessary, the Directors  can seek independent

profess ional  advice. The Schedule of MaIers  Reserved for the Board, and the Terms of Reference of i ts  commiIees, are



reviewed annual ly and further describe Directors ' responsibi l iDes  and obl igaDons and include any statutory and

regulatory duties .

 

The Board seeks  to understand the needs and prioriDes  of the Company's  stakeholders  and these are taken into account

during discuss ions  and as  part of the decis ion-making process . As  an external ly managed investment company, the

Company does  not have any employees  or customers, however the key stakeholders  and a summary of the Board's

cons ideration and actions  where poss ible in relation to each group of stakeholders  are described in the table below.

 
Stakeholder Group How we engage with them

 
Shareholders The Directors  have cons idered this  duty when making the strategic decis ions  during the

year that affect Shareholders , including the conDnued appointment of the I nvestment
Manager and the recommendaDon that Shareholders  vote in favour of the resoluDons for
the Company to conDnue and to renew the al lotment and buy back authoriDes  at the AGM.
The Directors  have also engaged with and taken account of Shareholders ' interests  during
the year.
 
The Company's  AGM wi l l  be held at 2:00pm on Thursday 10 Apri l  2025 at the offices of
Polar Capital , 16 Palace Street, London SW 1E 5JD. The Board recognises  that the AGM is  an
important event for Shareholders  and the Company and is  keen to ensure that
Shareholders  can exercise their right to vote and parDcipate. Any changes  to these
arrangements  wi l l  be communicated through the Company's  website and via  a  Regulatory
Information Service announcement.
 
The Board bel ieves  that Shareholder engagement remains  important and is  keen that the
AGM be a parDcipaDve event for a l l . Shareholders  wi l l  have the opportunity to hear a  pre-
recorded presentaDon from the Manager, reviewing the Company's  performance in the
year and the outlook for 2024-2025 in advance of the AGM. The presentaDon wi l l  be
uploaded to the Company's  website ahead of the AGM. I n addiDon, Shareholders  wi l l  be
able to watch the proceedings  of the AGM l ive via  Zoom Conference. Detai ls  of how to
access  the onl ine l ink are provided in the NoDce of AGM. The AGM in-person meeDng wi l l
comprise the formal  bus iness  and quesDons only. Al l  formal  bus iness  resoluDons wi l l  be
voted on by a  pol l  and we therefore encourage Shareholders  to submit their votes  ahead of
the meeDng by proxy card which is  provided with the NoDce of MeeDng. Shareholders  who
hold their shares  via  an onl ine stockbroker or plaCorm are encouraged to exercise their
vote in advance of the meeDng through their respecDve plaCorms. Further informaDon can
be found on the AI C 's  website and in the Shareholder informaDon secDon in the Annual
Report.
 
Shareholders  are encouraged to send any quesDons (on or before 7 Apri l  2025) ahead of
the AGM to the Board via  the Company Secretary at cosec@polarcapital .co.uk staDng the
subject maIer as  P C F T-AGM. The Chair of the Board and of the CommiIees, a long with the
Managers , wi l l  attend the AGM and wi l l  be avai lable to respond to questions  and concerns
from Shareholders .
 
Should any s ignificant votes  be cast against a  resoluDon, the Board wi l l  engage with
Shareholders  and explain in i ts  announcement of the results  of the AGM the acDons i t
intends to take to consult Shareholders  to understand the reasons  behind the votes
against. Fol lowing the consultaDon, an update wi l l  be publ ished no later than s ix months
aQer the AGM and the Annual  Report wi l l  detai l  the impact the Shareholder feedback has
had on any decis ions  the Board has  taken and any actions  or resolutions  proposed.
 
Relations with Shareholders
The Board and the Manager cons ider maintaining good communicaDons and engaging with
Shareholders  through meeDngs and presentaDons a  key priori ty. The Board regularly
cons iders  the share register of the Company and receives  regular reports  from the Manager
and the Corporate Broker on meeDngs aIended with Shareholders  and any concerns  that
are raised in those meetings . The Board reviews any correspondence from Shareholders  and
members  of the Board attend Manager presentations  to investors .
 
Shareholders  are kept informed by the publ icaDon of annual  and hal f year reports , monthly
fact sheets , access  to commentary from the Manager via  the Company's  website and
attendance at events  at which the Manager presents .
 
Shareholders  can raise any concerns  directly with the Chair or the Board without
intervenDon of the Manager or Company Secretary. They may do this  ei ther in person at the
AGM or at other events , or in wriDng ei ther via  the registered office of the Company or to the
Chair's  speci fic emai l  address 	Chair.PCFT@polarcapital.co.uk.
 
The Company, through the sales  and markeDng efforts  of the Manager, encourages  retai l
investment plaCorms to engage with underlying Shareholders  in relaDon to Company
communicaDons and enable those Shareholders  to cast their votes  on Shareholder
resoluDons; the Company however has  no responsibi l i ty over such plaCorms. The Board
therefore encourages  Shareholders  invested via  plaCorms to regularly vis i t the Company's
website or to contact the Company directly to obtain copies  of Shareholder
communications.
 
The Company has  made arrangements  with i ts  registrar for Shareholders  who own their
shares  directly rather than through a nominee or share scheme to view their account onl ine
at www.shareview.co.uk. Other services  are avai lable via  this  website.
 
Outcomes and strategic decisions during the year
2025 Tender Offer
Ahead of the Tender Offer to be made to Shareholders  in 2025, Directors  continue to engage



Ahead of the Tender Offer to be made to Shareholders  in 2025, Directors  continue to engage
with the Manager, Polar Sales  and the Company's  Brokers  to understand Shareholder views
and the proposed mechanisms and timetable for the Tender.
 
Buybacks
Further to Shareholder authori ty being granted, the Company has  the faci l i ty to conduct
share buy backs  when, in normal  market condiDons, i t i s  in the best interests  of
Shareholders  to do so. The Company bought back a  total  of 5,642,322 shares  during the
year under review. No ordinary shares  were bought back fol lowing the year end.
 
AGM
To enable more Shareholders  the opportunity to hear the I nvestment Manager's  AGM
presentaDon, the Board has  opted to pre-record and upload this  to the website ahead of the
voDng deadl ine and in-person formal  bus iness  AGM. I n addiDon, Shareholders  can watch
the proceedings  of the AGM l ive via  Zoom Conference. Detai ls  of how to access  the onl ine
l ink are provided in the Notice of AGM.
 	

Manager Through the Board meeDng cycle, regular updates  and the work of the Management
Engagement CommiIee in reviewing the services  of the Manager annual ly, the Board is  able
to safeguard Shareholder interests  by:
 

•  Ensuring excess ive risk i s  not undertaken in the pursuit of investment performance;
•      Ensuring adherence to the Investment Pol icy;
•    Ensuring adherence to the I nvestment Management Agreement and reviewing the

agreed management and performance fees;
•   Ensuring compl iance with statutory legal  requirements , regulaDons and other

advisory guidance such as  consumer duty and aspects  of operaDonal  res i l ience;
and

•   Reviewing the Manager's  decis ion making and cons istency of i ts  investment process .
 
Maintaining a  close and construcDve working relaDonship with the Manager is  crucia l  as
the Board and the Manager both aim to conDnue to del iver cons istent, long-term returns  in
l ine with the I nvestment O bjecDve. The culture which the Board maintains  to achieve this
involves  encouraging open discuss ion with the Manager, ensuring that the interests  of
Shareholders  and the Manager are a l igned, providing construcDve chal lenge and making
Directors ' experience avai lable to support the Manager. This  culture is  a l igned with the
col legiate and meritocratic culture which Polar Capital  has  developed and maintains .
 
Outcomes and strategic decisions during the year
ESG
The Board conDnued to engage with the I nvestment Manager to oversee how ES G has  been
integrated into the overal l  house methodology as  wel l  as  the bespoke financials  team
investment approach, engagement and decis ion making. The Board also receives
information on how ESG affects  Polar Capital  as  a  bus iness  and the financials  team.

 
Consumer Duty
The Board has  worked with the I nvestment Manager to ensure the obl igaDons of the new
Consumer Duty regulaDons are appropriately appl ied to the Company. I n l ight of the
obl igaDons, a l l  communicaDons including the website, fact sheets  and other publ ished
documentaDon, have been reviewed to ensure they are appropriate for a l l  end users . A
'value for money' assessment has  a lso been undertaken and is  made avai lable to
distributors  on request for their due di l igence processes. 	
Cost Disclosure
The Board has  engaged with the Manager to understand the impl icaDons of the FC A's
forbearance statement and explore any changes  that could be appl ied to key
documentaDon to take advantage of the exempDon from P R I I Ps  and the cost disclosure
aspects  of Mi F I D. The Board has  reviewed the changes  to the Company's  Key I nformaDon
Document and Factsheet, both of which have been updated in l ine with industry guidance.

 
Management
On the recommendation of the Management Engagement Committee the Board has  resolved
to the conDnue the appointment of the Manager on the terms agreed within the I nvestment
Management Agreement.
 

Investee Companies The Board has  instructed the Manager to cons ider the publ ished corporate governance
pol icies  of the companies  in which they invest.

 
The Board has  a lso cons idered the I nvestment Manager's  Stewardship Code and P roxy
VoDng Pol icy. The VoDng Pol icy is  for the I nvestment Manager to vote at a l l  general
meeDngs  of companies  in favour of resoluDons proposed by the management where i t
bel ieves  that the proposals  are in the interests  of shareholders . However, in excepDonal
cases, where the I nvestment Manager bel ieves  that a  resoluDon would be detrimental  to the
interests  of shareholders  or the financial  performance of the Company, appropriate
noti fication wi l l  be given and abstentions  or a  vote against wi l l  be lodged.

 
The Manager voted at 68 company meeDngs over the year ended 30 November 2024, with
37% of meeDngs  having at least one vote against, withheld or abstained. The Manager
reports  to the Board, when requested, on the appl icaDon of the Stewardship Code and
VoDng Pol icy. The Manager's  Stewardship Code and VoDng Pol icy can be found on the
Manager's  website in the Corporate Governance secDon (www.polarcapital .co.uk). Further
informaDon on how the Manager cons iders  ES G in i ts  engagement with investee companies
can be found in the ESG Report in the Annual  Report. 	
Outcomes and strategic decisions during the year
The Board receives  informaDon on the raDngs  of investee companies  and can use this  as  a



The Board receives  informaDon on the raDngs  of investee companies  and can use this  as  a
tool  to inform discuss ions  with the Manager during Board meetings .
 

Service Providers The Directors  oversee the Company's  service providers  through the annual  cycle of
reporDng and due di l igence meeDngs or s i te vis i ts  undertaken by the Manager. This
engagement is  undertaken with the aim of having effecDve overs ight of delegated services ,
seeking to improve the processes  for the benefit of the Company and to understand the
needs and views of the Company's  service providers , as  stakeholders  in the Company.
Further informaDon on the Board's  engagement with service providers  is  included in the
Corporate Governance Statement and the Report of the Audit CommiIee. During the year
under review, due di l igence meeDngs have been undertaken by the I nvestment Manager and
where poss ible, service providers  have joined meeDngs to present their reports  directly to
the Board or the Audit Committee as  appropriate.

 
Outcomes and strategic decisions during the year
The reviews of the Company's  service providers  have been pos iDve and the Directors
bel ieve their conDnued appointment is  in the best interests  of Shareholders . The
accounDng and administraDon services  of H S BC SecuriDes  Services  (H S S) are contracted
through Polar Capital  and provided to the Company under the terms of the I M A. However,
the Board conDnues to conduct due di l igence service reviews in conjuncDon with the
Company Secretary and is  saDsfied that the services  received conDnue to be of a
satis factory standard.
 

Proxy Advisors The support of the major insDtuDonal  investors  and proxy adviser agencies  is  important to
the Directors , as  the Company seeks  to retain a  reputaDon for high standards  of corporate
governance, which the Directors  bel ieve contributes  to the long-term sustainable success  of
the Company. The Directors  cons ider the recommendaDons of these various  proxy voDng
agencies  when contemplaDng decis ions  that wi l l  affect Shareholders  and when reporDng to
Shareholders  through the Hal f Year and Annual  Reports .

 
Recognis ing the principles  of stewardship, as  promoted by the UK  Stewardship Code, the
Board welcomes engagement with a l l  i ts  investors . The Board recognises  that the views,
quesDons from, and recommendaDons of many insDtuDonal  investors  and proxy adviser
agencies  provide a valuable feedback mechanism and play a  part in highl ighDng evolving
shareholders ' expectations  and concerns.

 
Outcomes and strategic decisions during the year
W here poss ible the Chair and other representaDves  of the Company have engaged with the
stewardship teams of some larger investors  to understand and address  their expectaDons
in terms of board governance, recruitment and divers i ty. P rior to AGMs, the Company
engages  with these agencies  to fact check their advisory reports  and clari fy any areas  or
topics  contained within the report. This  ensures  that whi lst the proxy advisory reports
provided to shareholders  are objecDve and independent, the Company's  acDons and
intenDons are represented as  clearly as  poss ible to ass ist with shareholders ' decis ion
making when cons idering the resolutions  proposed at the AGM.
 

AIC The Company is  a  member of the AI C  and has  supported various  lobbying acDviDes.
RepresentaDves  of the Manager s i t on a variety of forums run by the AI C  which aids
development and understanding of new pol icies  and procedures. The Directors  may cast
votes  in the AIC Board Elections  each year and regularly attend AIC events .
 

 
Approved by the Board on 19 February 2025.
By order of the Board
 
 
Jumoke Kupoluyi, ACG
Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited
Company Secretary
 

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors  are responsible for preparing the Annual  Report and the financial  s tatements  in accordance with appl icable

law and regulations.

 

Company law requires  the Directors  to prepare F inancial  Statements  for each financial  year. Under that law the Directors

have prepared the F inancial  Statements  in accordance with the UK-adopted I nternaDonal  AccounDng Standards  (UK-

adopted I AS) and appl icable law. AddiDonal ly, the F inancial  Conduct Authori ty's  D isclosure Guidance and Transparency

Rules  require the directors  to prepare the Financial  Statements  in accordance with UK-adopted IAS.

 

Under company law, the Directors  must not approve the Financial  Statements  unless  they are satis fied that they give a  true

and fa ir view of the state of affairs  of the Company and of the profit or loss  of the Company for that period. I n preparing

the financial  s tatements , the Directors  are required to:

 

·     	select suitable accounting pol icies  and then apply them consistently;

·     	state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted I AS, subject to any materia l  departures



disclosed and explained in the Financial  Statements;

·     	make judgements  and accounting estimates  that are reasonable and prudent; and

·     	prepare the F inancial  Statements  on the going concern bas is  unless  i t i s  inappropriate to presume that the

Company wi l l  continue in bus iness .

 

The Directors  are responsible for keeping adequate accounDng records  that are sufficient to show and explain the

Company's  transacDons and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any Dme the financial  pos iDon of the Company and

enable them to ensure that the F inancial  Statements  and the Directors ' RemuneraDon Report comply with the Companies

Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal  controls  as  they determine is  necessary to enable the preparaDon of

Financial  Statements  that are free from materia l  misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general

responsibi l i ty for taking such steps  as  are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets  of the Company and to prevent

and detect fraud and other i rregulari ties .

 

Under appl icable law and regulaDons, the Directors  are a lso responsible for preparing a  Strategic Report, D irectors '

Report, D irectors ' RemuneraDon Report and Corporate Governance Statement that comply with that law and those

regulations.

 

The Directors  are responsible for the maintenance and integri ty of the corporate and financial  informaDon included on

the Company's  website. Legis laDon in the UK  governing the preparaDon and disseminaDon of F inancial  Statements  may

differ from legis lation in other jurisdictions.

 

Directors' confirmations

The Directors  cons ider that the annual  report and financial  s tatements  taken as  a  whole, i s  fa i r, balanced and

understandable and provides  the informaDon necessary for shareholders  to assess  the Company's  pos iDon and

performance, bus iness  model  and strategy.

 

Each of the Directors , whose names and funcDons are l i s ted in the Strategic Report, confirm that, to the best of their

knowledge:

 

·    the Company's  F inancial  Statements , which have been prepared in accordance with appl icable accounDng

standards  give a  true and fa ir view of the assets , l iabi l iDes , financial  pos iDon and profit/loss  of the Company;

and

·     	the Strategic Report includes  a  fa i r review of the development and performance of the bus iness  and the pos iDon

of the Company, together with a  description of the principal  risks  and uncertainties  that i t faces.

 

In the case of each Director in office at the date the Directors ' Report i s  approved:

 

·     so far as  the Director is  aware, there is  no relevant audit informaDon of which the Company's  auditors  are

unaware; and

·     	they have taken al l  the steps  that they ought to have taken as  a  Director in order to make themselves  aware of any

relevant audit information and to establ ish that the Company's  auditors  are aware of that information.

 

 

Simon Cordery

 

Chair

 19 February 2025

 	
Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 November 2024

Notes

Year ended 30 November 2024 Year ended 30 November 2023

Revenue
return
£'000

Capital
return
£'000

Total
return
£'000

Revenue
return
£'000

Capital
return
£'000

Total
return
£'000

Investment income 3 19,067 - 19,067 19,143 - 19,143

Other operating income 4 1,505 - 1,505 916 - 916

Gains/(losses) on investments  held
at fa i r value

5
 - 156,916 156,916 - (25,777) (25,777)



at fa i r value  - 156,916 156,916 - (25,777) (25,777)

Losses  on derivatives - (251) (251) - (442) (442)

Other currency losses 6 - (2,312) (2,312) - (152) (152)

Total income/(expense) 20,572 154,353 174,925 20,059 (26,371) (6,312)

Expenses

Investment management fee 7 (772) (3,088) (3,860) (704) (2,815) (3,519)

Other administrative expenses 8 (798) (46) (844) (774) (20) (794)

Total expenses (1,570) (3,134) (4,704) (1,478) (2,835) (4,313)

Profi t/(loss) before finance costs
and tax 19,002 151,219 170,221 18,581 (29,206) (10,625)

Finance costs 9 (799) (3,196) (3,995) (722) (2,887) (3,609)

Profit/(loss) before tax 18,203 148,023 166,226 17,859 (32,093) (14,234)

Tax 10 (1,988) 337 (1,651) (1,986) 695 (1,291)

Net profit/(loss) for the year and
total comprehensive
income/(expense) 16,215 148,360 164,575 15,873 (31,398) (15,525)

Earnings/(losses) per ordinary share
(pence) 11 5.31 48.62 53.93

 
4.97

 
(9.84)

 
(4.87)

 

The total  column of this  statement represents  the Company's  Statement of Comprehensive I ncome, prepared in accordance

with UK-adopted International  Accounting Standards.

 

The revenue return and capital  return columns are supplementary to this  and are prepared under guidance publ ished by

the Association of Investment Companies .

 

The amounts  dealt with in the Statement of Comprehensive Income are a l l  derived from continuing activi ties .

 

The notes  to fol low form part of these financial  s tatements .

 

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 November 2024

 

Notes

Year ended 30 November 2024

Called up
share

capital
£'000

Capital
redemption

reserve
£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Special
distributable

reserve
£'000

Capital
reserves

£'000

Revenue
reserve

£'000

Total
equity
£'000

Total equity at 1 December
2023  

16,588 251 311,369 105,117 43,507 11,366 488,198

Total comprehensive income:  

Profi t for the year ended 30
November 2024

- - - - 148,360 16,215 164,575

Transactions with owners,
recorded directly to equity:

Shares  bought back and held
in treasury

15 - - - (9,038) - - (9,038)

Equity dividends paid 12 - - - - - (14,057) (14,057)

Total equity at 30 November
2023

       
16,588

       251  
311,369

          96,079  
191,867

      
13,524

     
629,678

 

 

Notes

Year ended 30 November 2023

Called up
share

capital
£'000

Capital
redemption

reserve
£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Special
distributable

reserve
£'000

Capital
reserves

£'000

Revenue
reserve

£'000

Total
equity
£'000



Total equity at 1 December
2022  

16,588 251 311,380 128,256 74,905 9,892 541,272

Total comprehensive
(expense)/income:  

       

(Loss)/profi t for the year
ended 30 November 2023

- - - - (31,398) 15,873 (15,525)

Transactions with owners,
recorded directly to equity:

Issue costs  relating to prior
year share placings

- - (11) - - - (11)

Shares  bought back and held
in treasury

15 - - - (23,139) - - (23,139)

Equity dividends paid 12 - - - - - (14,399) (14,399)

Total equity at 30 November
2023

 16,588  251  311,369  105,117  43,507  11,366  488,198

 

 
 
The notes to follow form part of these financial statements.
 

Balance Sheet

As at 30 November 2024

Notes
30 November 2024

£'000
30 November 2023

£'000

Non-current assets

Investments  held at fa i r value through profi t or loss 13 659,943 518,124

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14 28,178 37,262

Fair value of open derivative contracts 13 728 506

Receivables 22,873 8,419

51,779 46,187

Total assets
711,722 564,311

Current liabilities

Bank overdraft 14 - (1)

Fair value of open derivative contracts        13 (378) (316)

Payables (2,335) (6,502)

Bank loan (78,935) -

(81,648) (6,819)

Non-current liabilities  

Bank loan - (69,031)

Indian capital  gains  tax provis ion (396) (263)

(396) (69,294)

Net assets
629,678 488,198

Equity attributable to equity shareholders

Cal led up share capital 15 16,588 16,588

Capital  redemption reserve 251 251

Share premium reserve 311,369 311,369

Special  distributable reserve 96,079 105,117



Capital  reserves 191,867 43,507

Revenue reserve 13,524 11,366

Total equity
629,678 488,198

Net asset value per ordinary share (pence) 16 207.66 158.06
 

The notes  to fol low form part of these financial  s tatements .

 
 
Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 30 November 2024

Notes

Year ended
30 November 2024

£'000

Year ended
30 November 2023

£'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profi t/(loss) before tax 166,226 (14,234)

Adjustment for non-cash i tems:

(P rofit)/losses  on investments  held at fa i r value through
profi t or loss (156,916) 25,777

Losses  on derivative investments 251 442

Amortisation on fixed interest securi ties (141) (186)Adjusted	profit	before	tax 9,420 11,799Adjustments	for:Purchases	of	investments,	including	transaction	costs (670,314) (284,542)Sales	of	investments,	including	transaction	costs 667,632 311,263Purchases	of	derivative	financial	instruments (3,621) (1,794)Proceeds	on	disposal	of	derivative	financial	instruments 3,210 1,168Increase	in	receivables (548) (549)Increase	in	payables 167 479(Decrease)/increase	in	Indian	capital	gain	tax (199) 114Overseas	tax	deducted	at	source (1,450) (1,596)

Net cash generated from operating activities 4,297 36,342

Cash flows from financing activitiesShares	repurchased	into	treasury (9,227) (22,988)Issue	cost	paid - (11)Loan	drawn 10,000 9,891Exchange	gains	on	the	loan	facility (96) (1,367)Equity	dividends	paid (14,057) (14,399)

Net cash used in financing activities (13,380) (28,874)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (9,083) 7,468

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 37,261 29,793

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 28,178 37,261

 

The notes  to fol low form part of these financial  s tatements .

 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 November 2024

 

1         	General Information

 

Polar Capital  Global  F inancials  Trust plc i s  a  publ ic l imited company registered in England and Wales  whose shares  are

traded on the London Stock Exchange.

 

The principal  acDvity of the Company is  that of an investment trust company within the meaning of SecDon 1158/1159 of



the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and i ts  investment approach is  detai led in the Strategic Report.

 

The Board has  determined that Sterl ing is  the Company's  funcDonal  currency and the presentaDonal  currency of the

financial  s tatements  because i t i s  the currency which is  most relevant to the majori ty of the Company's  Shareholders  and

creditors  and is  the currency in which the majori ty of the Company's  operaDng expenses  are paid. Al l  figures  are rounded

to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) except as  otherwise stated.

 

2         	Accounting Policies

The materia l  principal  accounDng pol icies , which have been appl ied cons istently for a l l  years  presented, are set out

below:

 

(a)   Basis of Preparation

 

The Group and Company's  F inancial  Statements  have been prepared and approved by the Directors  in accordance with UK-

adopted internaDonal  accounDng standards  ("UK-adopted I AS") and with the requirements  of the Companies  Act 2006 as

appl icable to companies  reporting under those standards.

 

The financial  s tatements  have been prepared on a going concern bas is  under the historical  cost convenDon, as  modified by

the revaluation of investments  and derivative financial  instruments  at fa i r value through profi t or loss .

 

W here presentaDonal  guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended P racDce (S O R P ) for investment trusts  i ssued by

the AssociaDon of I nvestment Companies  (AI C) in July 2022 is  cons istent with the requirements  of UK-adopted I AS, the

Directors  have sought to prepare the financial  s tatements  on a bas is  compl iant with the recommendations  of the SORP.

 

The financial  pos iDon of the Company as  at 30 November 2024 is  shown in the balance sheet on page above. As  at 30

November 2024 the Company's  total  assets  exceeded i ts  total  l iabi l iDes  by a  mulDple of over 8.7. The assets  of the

Company cons ist mainly of securiDes  that are held in accordance with the Company's  I nvestment Pol icy and these

securi ties  are readi ly real isable.

The Directors  have cons idered a detai led assessment of the Company's  abi l i ty to meet i ts  l iabi l iDes  as  they fa l l  due. The

assessment took account of the Company's  current financial  pos iDon, i ts  cash flows and i ts  l iquidity pos iDon. I n addiDon

to the assessment, the Company also cons idered i ts  loan repayment obl igations  in July 2025 and carried out stress  testing

which used a variety of fa l l ing parameters  to demonstrate the effects  on the Company's  share price and net asset value.

Should the loan faci l iDes  not be renewed in July 2025, the Board is  saDsfied that the Company could fund the repayment

and ongoing cash flow requirements  through the sale of a  porDon of the porCol io of l i s ted securiDes  in a l l  severe but

plaus ible downside scenarios  cons idered. I n l ight of the results  of these tests , the Company's  cash balances, and the

l iquidity pos iDon, the Directors  cons ider that the Company has  adequate financial  resources  to enable i t to conDnue in

operaDonal  existence for at least 12 months  from the date of i ssuance of these F inancial  Statements . As  part of this

assessment, the Board also cons idered the tender offer taking place on or before 30 June 2025. I f the resultant s ize of the

Company fol lowing the 2025 tender offer does  not meet a  s ize at which i ts  bus iness  model  remains  viable, the Board may

consider puLng forward l iquidaDon proposals . However, based on extens ive discuss ions  with i ts  advisors  and the long

term relaDve and absolute performance of the Company, the Board bel ieves  that there is  sufficient support to indicate that

the 2025 Tender O ffer wi l l  not result in the Company fa i l ing to reach an adequate minimum s ize. Accordingly, the

Directors  bel ieve that i t i s  appropriate to conDnue to adopt the going concern bas is  in preparing the Company's  F inancial

Statements .

 

(b)   Presentation of the Statement of Comprehensive Income

 

I n order to beIer reflect the acDviDes  of an investment trust company and in accordance with the guidance set out by the

AI C, supplementary informaDon which analyses  the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome between i tems of a  revenue and

capital  nature has  been presented alongs ide the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome. The result presented in the revenue

return column is  the measure the Directors  bel ieve appropriate in assess ing the Company's  compl iance with certain

requirements  set out in Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010.

 

(c)    Income

 

Dividends receivable from equity shares  are taken to the revenue return column of the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome

on an ex-dividend bas is .

 

Special  dividends are recognised on an ex-dividend bas is  and may be cons idered to be ei ther revenue or capital  i tems. The



Special  dividends are recognised on an ex-dividend bas is  and may be cons idered to be ei ther revenue or capital  i tems. The

facts  and ci rcumstances  are cons idered on a case-by-case bas is  before a  conclus ion on appropriate a l location is  reached.

 

W here the Company has  received dividends in the form of addiDonal  shares  rather than in cash, the amount of the cash

dividend foregone is  recognised in the revenue return column of the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome. Any excess  in

value of shares  received over the amount of cash dividend foregone is  recognised in the capital  return column of the

Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 

The fixed returns  on debt securi ties  and non-equity shares  are recognised under the effective interest rate method.

 

Bank interest i s  accounted for on an accrual  bas is . I nterest outstanding at the year end is  calculated on a Dme

apportionment bas is  us ing market rates  of interest.

 

(d)   Written Options

 

The Company may write exchange-traded opDons with a  view to generaDng income. This  involves  wriDng short-dated

covered cal l  opDons and put opDons. The use of financial  derivaDves  is  governed by the Company's  pol icies , as  approved

by the Board.

 

These opDons are recorded iniDal ly at fa i r value, based on the premium income received, and are then measured at

subsequent reporting dates  at fa i r value. Changes  in the fa ir value of the options  are recognised in the capital  return for the

year.

 

The opDon premiums are recognised evenly over the l i fe of the opDon and shown in the revenue return, with an appropriate

amount shown in the capital  return to ensure the total  return reflects  the overal l  change in the fa ir value of the options.

 

W here an opDon is  exercised, any balance of the premium is  recognised immediately in the revenue return with a

corresponding adjustment in the capital  return based on the amount of the loss  aris ing on exercise of the option.

 

(e)   Expenses and Finance Costs

 

Al l  expenses, including the management fee, are accounted for on an accrual  bas is .

 

Expenses  are a l located whol ly to the revenue column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income except as  fol lows:

 

Expenses  are charged to the capital  column of the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome where a connecDon with the

maintenance or enhancement of the value of investments  can be demonstrated. I n this  respect the investment management

fees  have been charged to the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome in l ine with the Board's  expected long-term spl i t of

returns, in the form of capital  gains  and income from the Company's  porCol io. As  a  result, 20% of the investment

management fees  are charged to the revenue account and 80% charged to the capital  account of the Statement of

Comprehensive Income.

 

F inance costs  are calculated us ing the effecDve interest rate method and are accounted for on an accruals  bas is  and, in

l ine with the management fee expense, are charged 20% to the revenue account and 80% to the capital  account of the

Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 

Any performance fee accrued is  charged enDrely to capital  as  the fee is  based on the outperformance of the Benchmark and

is  expected to be aIributable largely, i f not whol ly, to capital  performance. A provis ion wi l l  be recognised when

outperformance has  been achieved in accordance with the calculations  detai led in the Annual  Report.

 

The research costs  relate solely to specia l is t financial  research and are accounted for on an accrual  bas is . They are

al located 20% to revenue and 80% to capital  in l ine with the expected long-term spl i t of revenue and capital  return from the

Company's  investment portfol io.

 

(f)    Tax

 

The tax expense represents  the sum of the overseas  withholding tax deducted from investment income, tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

 

The tax currently payable is  based on the taxable profits  for the year ended 30 November 2024. Taxable profit differs  from



net profit as  reported in the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome because i t excludes  i tems of income or expense that are

taxable or deducDble in other years  and i t further excludes  i tems that are never taxable or deducDble. The Company's

l iabi l i ty for current tax is  calculated us ing tax rates  that have been enacted or substanDvely enacted at the balance sheet

date.

 

I n l ine with the recommendaDons of the S O R P, the al locaDon method used to calculate tax rel ief on expenses  presented

against capital  returns  in the supplementary informaDon in the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome is  the "marginal

bas is". Under this  bas is , i f taxable income is  capable of being offset enDrely by expenses  presented in the revenue return

column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income, then no tax rel ief i s  transferred to the capital  return column.

 

Deferred tax is  the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on temporary differences  between the carrying amounts  of

assets  and l iabi l iDes  in the financial  s tatements  and the corresponding tax bases  used in the computaDon of taxable

profit, and is  accounted for us ing the balance sheet l iabi l i ty method. Deferred tax l iabi l iDes  are recognised for a l l  taxable

temporary differences  and deferred tax assets  are recognised to the extent that i t i s  probable that taxable profits  wi l l  be

avai lable against which deductible temporary di fferences  can be uti l i sed.

 

I nvestment trusts  which have approval  as  such under SecDon 1158 of the CorporaDon Tax Act 2010 are not l iable for

taxation on UK capital  gains .

 

The Company is  l iable to I ndian capital  gains  tax under SecDon 115 AD of the I ndian I ncome Tax Act 1961. The I ndian

capital  gains  tax provis ion represents  an esDmate of the amount of tax payable by the Company. Tax amounts  payable

may differ from this  provis ion depending on when the Company disposes  of i ts  investments . The current provis ion for

I ndian capital  gains  tax is  calculated based on the long term (securiDes  held more than one year) or short term (securiDes

held less  than one year) nature of the investments  and the appl icable tax rate at the year end. W ith effect from 23 July

2024, the short-term tax rate is  20% (previous ly 15%) and the long-term tax rate is  12.5% (previous ly 10%). The esDmated

tax charge is  subject to regular review including a  cons ideraDon of the l ikely period of ownership, tax rates  and market

valuaDon movements . The provis ion at the year end is  recognised in the Balance Sheet and the year-on-year movement in

the provis ion is  recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets  i s  reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that i t i s  no

longer probable that sufficient taxable profi ts  wi l l  be avai lable to a l low al l  or part of the asset to be recovered.

 

Deferred tax is  calculated at the tax rates  that are expected to apply in the period when the l iabi l i ty i s  seIled or when the

asset i s  real ised based on tax rates  that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

 

Deferred tax is  charged or credited in the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome, except when i t relates  to i tems charged or

credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is  a lso dealt with in equity.

 

(g)   Investments Held at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

 

W hen a purchase or sale is  made under contract, the terms of which require del ivery within the Dmeframe of the relevant

market, the investments  concerned are recognised or derecognised on the trade date and are iniDal ly measured at fa i r

value.

 

O n iniDal  recogniDon the Company has  des ignated al l  of i ts  investments  as  held at fa i r value through profit or loss  as

defined by UK-adopted IAS. Al l  investments  are measured at subsequent reporting dates  at fa i r value, which is  ei ther the bid

price or the last traded price, depending on the convention of the exchange on which the investment is  quoted.

 

Written and purchased options  are valued at fa i r value us ing quoted bid prices .

 

Index futures  are valued at the di fference between exchange settlement prices  and inception prices .

 

Al l  investments , class ified as  fa i r value through profit or loss , are further categorised into the fa ir value hierarchy in the

Annual  Report.

 

Changes  in fa i r value of a l l  investments  and derivatives  held at fa i r value are recognised in the capital  return column of the

Statement of Comprehensive I ncome. Gains  or losses  on derivaDve financial  instruments  are treated as  capital  or revenue

depending on the moDve and ci rcumstances  of the transacDon. W here pos iDons are undertaken to protect or enhance

capital , the returns  are capital  and where they are generating or protecting revenue, the returns  are revenue.

 



 

In respect of unquoted investments , or where the market for a  financial  instrument is  not active, fa i r value is  establ ished by

us ing various  valuaDon techniques, in accordance with the I nternaDonal  P rivate Equity and Venture Capital  ("I P EVC")

ValuaDon Guidel ines  - EdiDon December 2022. These may include us ing reference to recent arm's  length market

transacDons between knowledgeable, wi l l ing parDes, i f avai lable, reference to recent rounds of re-financing undertaken by

investee companies  involving knowledgeable parDes, reference to the current fa i r value of another instrument that i s

substantia l ly the same or a  relevant comparable.

 

(h)   Receivables

 

Receivables  are iniDal ly recognised at fa i r value and subsequently measured at amorDsed cost. Receivables  do not carry

any interest and are short-term in nature and are accordingly stated at their nominal  value (amorDsed cost) as  reduced by

appropriate a l lowances  for estimated i rrecoverable amounts .

 

(i)    Cash and Cash Equivalents

 

Cash comprises  cash on hand and demand deposits . Cash equivalents  are short-term, maturi ty of three months  or less ,

highly l iquid investments  that are readi ly convertible to known amounts  of cash.

 

(j)    Dividends Payable

 

Interim dividends payable to Shareholders  are recognised in the financial  s tatements  in the period in which they are paid.

 

(k)   Payables

 

Payables  are not interest-bearing and are iniDal ly valued at fa i r value and subsequently stated at their nominal  value

(amortised cost).

 

(l)    Bank Loans

 

I nterest-bearing bank loans  are iniDal ly recognised at cost, being the proceeds received net of direct i ssue costs , and

subsequently at amorDsed cost. The amounts  fa l l ing due for repayment within one year are included under current

l iabi l i ties  and more than one year under non-current l iabi l i ties  in the Balance Sheet.

 

(m)  Foreign Currency Translation

 

TransacDons in foreign currencies  are trans lated into Sterl ing at the rate of exchange rul ing on the date of each

transacDon. Monetary assets , monetary l iabi l iDes  and equity investments  in foreign currencies  at the balance sheet date

are trans lated into Sterl ing at the rates  of exchange rul ing on that date.

 

Real ised profits  or losses  on exchange, together with differences  aris ing on the trans laDon of foreign currency assets  or

l iabi l i ties , are taken to the capital  return column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 

Foreign exchange gains  and losses  aris ing on investments  held at fa i r value are included within changes  in fa i r value.

 

(n)   Share Capital

 

O rdinary shares  are class ified as  equity. I ncremental  costs  directly aIributable to the issue of new ordinary shares  or

options  are shown in equity, as  a  deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

 

(o)   Capital Reserves

Capital  reserve aris ing on investments  sold includes:

- gains/losses  on disposal  of investments;

- exchange di fferences  on currency balances; and

- other capital  charges  and credits  charged to this  account in accordance with the accounting pol icies  above.

 

Capital  reserve aris ing on investments  held includes:

- increases  and decreases  in the valuation of investments  held at the balance sheet date.

 

Al l  of the above are accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.



Al l  of the above are accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 

W hen making a  distribuDon to Shareholders , the Directors  determine the profits  avai lable for distribuDon by reference to

the 'Guidance on real ised and distributable profits  under the Companies  Act 2006' i ssued by the I nsDtute of Chartered

Accountants  in England and Wales  and the I nsDtute of Chartered Accountants  of Scotland in Apri l  2017. The avai labi l i ty

of distributable reserves  in the Company is  dependent on those dividends meeDng the definiDon of qual i fying

consideraDon within the guidance and on the avai lable cash resources  of the Company and other access ible sources  of

funds. The distributable reserves  are therefore subject to any future restricDons or l imitaDons at the Dme such

distribution is  made.

 

(p)   Repurchase of Ordinary Shares (including those held in treasury)

 

W here appl icable, the costs  of repurchas ing O rdinary Shares  including related stamp duty and transacDon costs  are

taken directly to equity and reported through the Statement of Changes  in Equity as  a  charge on the special  distributable

reserve. Share repurchase transactions  are accounted for on a trade date bas is .

 

The nominal  value of ordinary share capital  repurchased and cancel led is  transferred out of cal led up share capital  and

into the capital  redemption reserve.

 

W here shares  are repurchased and held in treasury, the transfer to capital  redempDon reserve is  made i f and when such

shares  are subsequently cancel led.

 

W here the shares  held in treasury are reissued, the amount of the sales  proceed up to the repurchased cost of those

shares  is  transferred back into special  distributable reserve, the excess  of the sales  proceeds over the repurchased cost i s

transferred to share premium.

 

(q)   Share Issue Costs

 

W here appl icable, costs  incurred directly in relaDon to the issue of new shares  together with addiDonal  share l i sDng

costs  have been deducted from the share premium reserve.

 

(r)	Segmental Reporting

 

Under I F RS 8 O peraDng Segments , operaDng segments  are cons idered to be the components  of an enDty about which

separate financial  informaDon is  avai lable that i s  evaluated regularly by the chief operaDng decis ion maker in deciding

how to al locate resources  and in assess ing performance. The chief operaDng decis ion maker has  been idenDfied as  the

Investment Manager (with overs ight from the Board).

 

The Directors  are of the opinion that the Company has  only one operaDng segment and as  such no disDnct segmental

reporting is  required.

 

(s) Key Estimates and Judgements

 

The preparaDon of financial  s tatements  in conformity with UK-adopted I AS requires  management to make judgements ,

esDmates  and assumpDons that affect the appl icaDon of pol icies  and reported amounts  of assets , l iabi l iDes , income and

expenses. EsDmates  and assumpDons used in preparing the financial  s tatements  are reviewed on an ongoing bas is  and are

based on historical  experience and various  other factors  that are bel ieved to be reasonable under the ci rcumstances. The

results  of these esDmates  and assumpDons form the bas is  of making judgements  about carrying values  of assets  and

l iabi l i ties  that are not readi ly apparent from other sources.

 

The key judgements  and sources  of estimation uncertainty that have a s igni ficant risk of caus ing materia l  adjustment to the

carrying amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i ties  and expenses  in future periods  are as  fol lows:

 

Valuation of Level 3 Investments

I nvestments  valued us ing valuaDon techniques  include unl isted financial  investments , which by their nature, do not have

an external ly quoted price based on regular trades.

 

The valuaDon techniques  used may include the techniques  described in note 2(g). W hen determining the inputs  into the

valuaDon techniques  used, priori ty i s  given to publ icly avai lable prices  from independent sources  when avai lable, but

overal l  the source of pricing is  chosen with the objecDve of arriving at a  fa i r value measurement that reflects  the price at

which an orderly transaction would take place between market participants  at the balance sheet date.



which an orderly transaction would take place between market participants  at the balance sheet date.

 

(t) New and revised accounting Standards

 

There were no new UK-adopted I AS or amendments  to UK-adopted I AS appl icable to the current year which had any

s igni ficant impact on the Company's  financial  s tatements .                               

                               

i ) The fol lowing new or amended standards  became effecDve for the current annual  reporDng period and the adopDon of

the standards  and interpretations  have not had a materia l  impact on the Financial  Statements  of the Company.    

 

 

Standards  & Interpretations EffecDve for periods
commencing on or after

Disclosure of Accounting
Pol icies  (Amendments  to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice Statement
2)

Requirement amended to disclose materia l  accounDng
pol icies  instead of s ignificant accounDng pol icies  and
provided guidance in making materia l i ty judgements  to
accounting pol icy disclosure.

 1 January 2023

Defini tion of Accounting
Estimates  (amendments  to IAS
8)

I ntroduced the definiDon of accounDng esDmates  and
included other amendments  to I AS 8 to help enDDes
disDnguish changes  in accounDng esDmates  from
changes  in accounting pol icy.

 1 January 2023

International  Tax Reform -
Pi l lar Two Model  Rules
(Amendments  to IAS 12)

A mandatory temporary excepDon to the accounDng for
deferred taxes  aris ing from the jurisdicDonal
implementaDon of the P i l lar Two model  rules ; and
disclosure requirements  for affected enDDes to help
users  of the F inancial  Statements  to beIer understand an
enDty's  exposure to P i l lar Two income taxes  aris ing from
that legis lation, particularly before i ts  effective date.

 1 January 2023

 

i i ) At the date of authorisaDon of the Company's  F inancial  Statements , the fol lowing relevant standards  that potenDal ly

impact the Company are in issue but are not yet effective and have not been appl ied in the Financial  Statements:

 

Standards  & Interpretations EffecDve for periods
commencing on or after

Amendments  to IAS 1
Presentation of Financial
Statements
- Non-current l iabi l i ties  with
Covenants
- Deferral  of Effective Date
Amendment (publ ished 15
July 2020)
Class i fication of Liabi l i ties  as
Current or Non-Current
(Amendments  to IAS 1)
(publ icised 23 January 2020)

The amendments  clari fy that only covenants  with which
an enti ty must comply on or before the reporting date wi l l
affect a  l iabi l i ty's  class i fication as  current or non-
current and the disclosure requirement in the Financial
Statements  for the risk that non-current l iabi l i ties  with
covenant could become repayable within twelve months.

 1 January 2024

Suppl ier Finance
Arrangements  (Amendments
to IAS 7 and IFRS 7)

The amendments  address  the disclosure requirements  to
enhance the transparency of suppl ier finance
arrangements  and their effects  on a company's
l iabi l i ties , cash flows and exposure to l iquidity risk.

 1 January 2024

 

The Directors  expect that the adopDon of the standards  l i s ted above wi l l  have ei ther no impact or that any impact wi l l  not

be materia l  on the financial  s tatements  of the Company in future periods.                       

 

 

3	             Investment Income

Year ended
30 November

2024
£'000

Year ended
30 November

2023
£'000

Revenue:   

UK dividends 2,933 2,391

Overseas  dividends 13,182 13,313

Interest on debt securi ties 2,952 3,439

Total investment income 19,067 19,143

 

I ncluded within income from investments  is  £1,460,000 (2023: £623,000) of specia l  dividends class ified as  revenue in

nature in accordance with note 2 (c). No special  dividends have been recognised in capital  (2023: ni l ).

4     Other Operating Income

Year ended Year ended



Year ended
30 November

2024
£'000

Year ended
30 November

2023
£'000

Bank interest 1,505 916

Total other operating income 1,505 916

 

5     Gains/(losses) on Investments Held at Fair Value

Year ended
30 November

2024
£'000

Year ended
30 November

2023
£'000

Net gains/(losses) on disposal  of investments  at historic cost 68,405 (1,274)

Less  fa i r value adjustments  in earl ier years (21,042) (26,371)

Gains/(losses) based on carrying value at previous balance sheet
date

47,363 (27,645)

Valuation gains  on investments  held during the year 109,553 1,868

156,916 (25,777)

 

6     Other Currency Losses              

Year ended
30 November

2024
£'000

Year ended
30 November

2023
£'000

Exchange losses  on currency balances (2,408) (1,519)

Exchange gains  on the loan faci l i ty 96 1,367

 (2,312) (152)

 
7     Investment Management and Performance Fee

	 Year ended
30 November

2024
£'000

Year ended
30 November

2023
£'000

	
	 Management fee 		 - charged to revenue 772 704 		 - charged to capital 3,088 2,815 		 Investment management fee payable to Polar Capital LLP 3,860 3,519 	

 
Management fees  are a l located 20% to revenue and 80% to capital . Detai ls  of the investment management and performance
fees  are set out in the Strategic Report in the Annual  Report.
 

 

8     Other Administrative Expenses (including VAT where appropriate)

Year ended
30 November

2024
£'000

Year ended
30 November

2023
£'000

Directors ' fees1 142 145

Directors ' NIC 15 15

Auditors ' remuneration - for audit of the Financial  Statements2 54 50

Depositary fee3 37 34

HSBC administration fee3 206 205

Registrar fee 38 39

Custody and other bank charges4 77 87

UKLA and LSE l i s ting fees 57 49

Legal  & profess ional  fees 3 (3)

AIC fees 21 21

Directors ' and officers ' l iabi l i ty insurance 19 19

Corporate broker's  fee5 16 16

Marketing expenses6 72 72



Marketing expenses6 72 72

Research costs  - a l located to revenue7 11 5

Shareholder communications 22 17

Other expenses 8 3

Total other administrative expenses
allocated to revenue  

798 774

Research costs  - a l located to capital7 46  20

Total other administrative expenses  844  794
 

1   	Full disclosure is given in the Directors' Remuneration Report within the Annual Report.

   2    The base audit fee for the statutory audit in the current year was £53,500 (2023: £49,480).                                       

3   	Fees are determined on the pre-approved rate card with HSBC.

4   	Fee is based on the value of the assets and geographical activity and determined on the pre-approved rate card with HSBC.

5   	Corporate Broker fee is reduced by the commission received on the share buybacks during the year.                                                                                                                                                                                              

                               

6   	Includes bespoke marketing budget of £50,000 (2023: £50,000).                                                                                                                                                                                            

7   Research costs (which applied from 3 January 2018) payable by the Company relate solely to specialist financial research. The budget for the year is 75,000 (2023:

4 0 , 0 0 0 ) .                                                                                                                                                                                                           

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

O ngoing charges  represents  the total  expenses  of the Company, excluding finance costs  and tax, expressed as  a

percentage of the average dai ly net asset value, in accordance with AIC guidance issued in July 2022.

The ongoing charges  raDo excluding performance fee for the year ended 30 November 2024 was 0.85% (2023: 0.86%). See

Alternative Performance Measures  below.  

9     Finance Costs

Year ended 30 November	2024 Year ended 30 November 2023

Revenue
£'000

Capital
£'000

Total
£'000

Revenue
£'000

Capital
£'000

Total
£'000

Interest on loans  and overdrafts 781 3,123 3,904  699 2,795  3,494

Loan arrangement fees 18 73 91  23 92  115

799 3,196 3,995  722 2,887 3,609

Finance costs  are a l located 20% to revenue and 80% to capital .

10   Tax 
a) Analysis of tax charge/(credit) for the year:

Year ended 30 November 2024 Year ended 30 November 2023

Revenue
return
£'000

Capital
return
£'000

Total
return
£'000

Revenue
return
£'000

Capital
return
£'000

Total
return
£'000

 

Overseas  tax 1,319 - 1,319  1,438 -  1,438

Tax rel ief in capital 669 (669) -  693 (693)  -  

Withholding tax recovered - - - (145) - (145)

Indian capital  gains  tax - 332 332 - (2) (2)

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year (see
note 10b)

  1,988 (337)   1,651  1,986 (695)  1,291

b) Factors affecting tax charge/(credit) for the year:

The charge/(credit) for the year can be reconci led to the profit/(loss) before tax per the Statement of Comprehensive
Income as  fol lows:

Year ended 30 November 2024 Year ended 30 November 2023

Revenue
return

£'000

Capital
return

£'000

Total
return

£'000

Revenue
return

£'000

Capital
return

£'000

Total
return

£'000

Profit/(loss) before tax 17,859 (32,093) (14,234) 15,773 (9,220) 6,553

Tax at the UK  corporaDon tax rate of 25%
(2023: effective tax rate of 23%)

4,551 37,006 41,557 4,108 (7,381) (3,273)

Tax effect of non-taxable dividends (3,871) - (3,871) (3,382) - (3,382)

Capital  (gains)/losses  that are not taxable - (38,589) (38,589) - 6,065 6,065

Overseas  tax suffered 1,319 - 1,319 1,438 - 1,438

Indian capital  gains  tax - 332 332 - (2) (2)



Indian capital  gains  tax - 332 332 - (2) (2)

Unrel ieved current period expenses  and
defici ts

- 914 914 - 623 623

Withholding tax recovered - - - (145) - (145)

Tax rel ief on overseas  tax suffered (11) - (11) (33) - (33)

Total tax charge/(credit)for the year (see
note 10a)

1,988 (337) 1,651 1,986 (695) 1,291

 

c) Factors that may affect future tax charges:

               

The Company has  an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £3,524,000 (2023: £2,618,000). The deferred tax asset i s  based on

the current corporaDon tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%).                                      

                                                                                                                               

                                                                                                                                                               

It i s  unl ikely that the Company wi l l  generate sufficient taxable profi ts  in the future to uti l i se these expenses  and defici ts

and therefore no deferred tax asset has  been recognised.                                                                                                                          

                                                                                                                                                                                            

Due to the Company's  tax status  as  an investment trust and the intention to continue meeting the conditions  required to

obtain approval  of such status  in the foreseeable future, the Company has  not provided UK tax on any capital  gains  aris ing

on the revaluation or disposal  of investments  held by the Company.                                                                                                      

          

                                                                                                                                                               

The Company is  l iable to I ndian capital  gains  tax under SecDon 115 AD of the I ndian I ncome Tax Act 1961. A tax provis ion

on I ndian capital  gains  is  calculated based on the long term (securiDes  held more than one year) or short term (securiDes

held less  than one year) nature of the investments  and the appl icable tax rate at the year end. The current rates  from 23 July

2024 of short-term tax rates  are 20% (previous ly 15%) and the long term tax rates  are 12.5% (previous ly 10%) respecDvely. 

At the year ended 30 November 2024, the Company has  a  deferred tax l iabi l i ty of £396,000 (2023: £263,000) on capital

gains  which may arise i f I ndian investments  are sold.       

                                                                                                                                                .

                                                                                                                                                             
11   Earnings/(Losses) Per Ordinary Share    

Year ended 30 November 2024 Year ended 30 November 2023

Revenue
return

Capital
return

Total
return

Revenue
return

Capital
return

Total
return

The calculation of bas ic
earnings/(losses) per share is
based on the fol lowing data:

Net profi t/(loss) for the year
(£'000)

16,215 148,360 164,575 15,873 (31,398) (15,525)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares  in issue
during the year

in issue during the year 305,146,436 305,146,436 305,146,436 319,065,538 319,065,538 319,065,538

Basic - ordinary shares
(pence)

5.31 48.62 53.93 4.97 (9.84) (4.87)

As at 30 November 2024 there were no potentia l ly di lutive shares  in issue (2023: ni l ).
12   Amounts Recognised as Distributions to Ordinary Shareholders in the Year

        Dividends paid in the year ended 30 November 2024

Payment date No. of shares
Amount per

share

Year ended
30 November 2024

£'000

29 February 2024 307,160,405 2.10p 6,450 

30 August 2024 304,272,705 2.50p 7,607 

14,057

 

The revenue avai lable for distribution by way of dividend for the year is  £16,215,000 (2023: £15,837,000).

The total  dividends payable in respect of the financial  year ended 30 November 2024, which is  the bas is  on which the

requirements  of section 1158 Corporation Tax Act 2010 are cons idered, are set out below:

Payment date No. of shares
Amount per

share

Year ended
30 November 2024

£'000

30 August 2024 304,272,705 2.50p 7,607 



30 August 2024 304,272,705 2.50p 7,607 

28 February 2025 303,219,365 2.20p 6,671

14,278

 

The total  dividends payable in respect of the financial  year ended 30 November 2023, which is  the bas is  on which the

requirements  of section 1158 Corporation Tax Act 2010 are cons idered, are set out below:          

Payment date No. of shares
Amount per

share

Year ended
30 November 2023

£'000

31 August 2023 315,955,329 2.45p 7,741

29 February 2024 307,160,405 2.10p 6,450

14,191

Al l  dividends are paid as  interim dividends, and al l  have been charged to revenue, where necessary uDl is ing the revenue
reserve and in excepDonal  ci rcumstances  uDl is ing the special  distributable reserve.
                                                                                                                                    
13  	Investments Held at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
a)	Investments held at fair value through profit or loss

30 November
2024 £'000

30 November
2023

£'000

Opening book cost 476,645 506,766

Opening investment holding gains 41,479 65,982

Opening fair value 518,124 572,748

Analysis of transactions made during the year

Purchases  at cost 666,169 286,636

Sales  proceeds received (681,407) (315,669)

Gains/(losses) on investments  held at fa i r value 156,916 (25,777)

Amortisation on fixed interest securi ties 141 186

Closing fair value 659,943 518,124

Clos ing book cost 529,953 476,645

Clos ing investment holding gains 129,990 41,479

Closing fair value 659,943 518,124

 

The Company received £681,407,000 (2023: £315,669,000) from disposal  of investments  in the year. The book cost of

these investments  when they were purchased were £613,002,000 (2023: £316,943,000). These investments  have been

revalued over time and unti l  they were sold any unreal ised gains/losses  were included in the fa ir value of the investments .

The fol lowing transaction costs , including stamp duty and broker commiss ions, were incurred during the year:

30 November
2024 £'000

30 November
2023 £'000

On acquis i tions 924 473

On disposals 561 246

1,485 719

 

b) Changes in Derivative Financial Instruments

 

(i) Futures
30 November 2024

£'000
30 November 2023

£'000

Valuation at 1 December (288) 6

Additions  at cost 1,816 683

Proceeds of disposal (984) (386)

Losses  on disposal (832) (297)

Valuation gains/ (losses) 638 (294)

Valuation at 30 November 350 (288)

 

The Company invested in currency and index futures  during the year for the purposes  of efficient portfol io management. As



The Company invested in currency and index futures  during the year for the purposes  of efficient portfol io management. As

at 30 November 2024, the Company held a  short pos ition of 80 CME Bri tish pound/ Japanese Yen December 2024 contracts

and a short pos iDon of 250 C M E Euro December 2024 contracts  with a  market value gain of £350,000. (2023: Long

posiDon of 80 C M E Japanese Yen December 2023 contracts , a  short pos iDon of 250 C M E BriDsh Pound December 2023

contracts  and a short pos iDon of 20 C M E BriDsh Pound/Japanese Yen December 2023 contracts  with a  market value loss

of £288,000).                                                                                                                                     

                                                                                                                                                               

(ii) Options
30 November

2024 £'000
30 November

2023 £'000

Valuation at 1 December 478 -

Additions  at cost 1,805 1,111

Proceeds of disposal (2,226) (782)

(Losses)/gains  on disposal (201) 293

Valuation gains/ (losses) 144 (144)

Valuation at 30 November -  478

 
The Company invested in purchased cal l  and put opDons during the year for the purposes  of efficient porCol io
management. As  at 30 November 2024, the company had sold out of a l l  opDons. (2023: £478,000 - S P D R S&P  Regional
Banking ETF cal l  option).                                                                                                                                                        
                                                                                               

(c) Fair Value of Open Derivative Contracts
30 November 2024

£'000
30 November 2023

£'000

CME Japanese Yen December 2023 Futures - 28

SPDR S&P Regional  Banking ETF Cal l  Options - 478

CME Euro December 2024 Futures 728 -

728 506

CME Bri tish Pound December 2023 Futures - (231)

CME Bri tish Pound/Japanese Yen December 2024 Futures (378) (85)

(378) (316)

Total 350 190

 
(d) Fair value hierarchy
       
The Company's  financial  instruments  within the scope of I F RS 7 that are held at fa i r value comprise i ts  investment

portfol io and derivative financial  instruments .

 

They are categorised into a  hierarchy cons isting of the fol lowing three levels :     

                                                                               

Level  1 - valued us ing quoted prices  in active markets  for identical  assets  or l iabi l i ties .                                                                

    

Level  2 - valued by reference to valuation techniques  us ing observable inputs  other than quoted market prices

included within Level  1.                                                                                    

Level  3 - valued by reference to valuation techniques  us ing inputs  that are not based on observable market data.                  

                                                                                                                                                  

CategorisaDon within the hierarchy has  been determined on the bas is  of the lowest level  input that i s  s ignificant to 'the

fair value measurement of the relevant asset'.                                                                                              

                                                                                               

Detai ls  of the valuaDon techniques  used by the Company are given in note

2(g).                                                                                 

                                                                                               

The fol lowing tables  set out the fa ir value measurements  us ing the I F RS 7 hierarchy at 30 November 2024 and

2023:                                                                                               

 

30 November 2024

Level 1
£'000

Level 2
£'000

Level 3
£'000

Total
£'000

Equity I nvestments  and derivaDve
financial  instruments

612,625 - 6,699 619,324

Interest bearing securi ties 40,969 - - 40,969

Total 653,594 - 6,699 660,293



Total 653,594 - 6,699 660,293

 
The Level  3 investment relates  to the shares  in Atom Bank and Moneybox.
 

30 November 2023

Level 1
£'000

Level 2
£'000

Level 3
£'000

Total
£'000

Equity I nvestments  and derivaDve
financial  instruments

464,999 478 5,054 470,531

Interest bearing securi ties 47,783 - - 47,783

Total 512,782 478 5,054 518,314

 

The Level  2 investment relates  to the SPDR S&P Regional  Banking ETF Cal l  Options.

The Level  3 investment relates  to the shares  in Atom Bank and Moneybox.

There have been no transfers  during the year between Levels  1 and 2. A reconci l iaDon of fa i r value measurements  in Level

3 is  set out below.

Level 3 investments at fair value through profit or loss
30 November

2024 £'000
30 November

2023 £'000

Opening balance 5,054 4,551

Total  gains  included in the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome -
on assets  held at the year end.
 

1,645 503

Closing balance 6,699 5,054

 

Level  3 Investments  are recognised at fa i r value through profi t or loss  on a recurring bas is .                                                          

                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

  

Level  3 investments  are valued in accordance with the accounting pol icy in Note 2(g) above.                                          

                                                                                                               

A +/- 10% change in the price used to value the investment in the level  3 investments  at the year end would result in a  +/-

£670,000 (2023: £505,000) impact on the gains  or losses  on investments  held at fa i r value in the Statement of

Comprehensive I ncome.                                                                                                                                                

.                                                                                                                                                              
e)    Unquoted investments             
The value of the unquoted investments  as  at 30 November 2024 was £6,699,000 (2023: £5,04,000) and the porCol io
comprised the fol lowing holdings:

30 November
2024

£'000

30 November
2023

£'000

Atom Bank 1,281 1,281

Moneybox 5,418 3,773

6,699 5,054

 

Atom Bank is  a  UK digi ta l  bank founded in 2014 and based in Durham. It currently offers  fixed rate and instant access

savings  products , bus iness  banking loans  and retai l  mortgages.                                                                                                            

                                                                                                                                                                                   

At 31 March 2024 (Atom Bank's  financial  year end), Atom Bank announced that i t had made a pre-tax profit of £6,700,000

(2023: losses  £10,097,000) and had net assets  attributable to Shareholders  of £402,400,000 (2023: £283,134,000).

 

The valuation of Atom Bank was reviewed by the Investment Manager and the Board during both the hal f year and ful l  year

financial  results  process . The valuaDon of Atom Bank at the year end is  supported by the secondary transacDon announced

b y the company in November 2024. To factor in any uncertainty surrounding the current price, i f the fa ir value of the

investment	at the reporDng date has  been stressed by +/- 10% (2023: +/- 10%) the fa ir value would increase/decrease by

£128,000 (2023:£128,000).                                                                                                                           

                                                                                                                                               

Moneybox is  an on-l ine UK  savings  and wealth plaCorm and provides  mobi le appl icaDons which enable customers  to

make regular savings  into tax efficient products , such as  I SAs, or a  personal  pens ion, as  wel l  as  various  savings

a c c o u n t s .                                                                

                                                                                                                                                                                               



                                                                                                                                                                                               

At 31 May 2024 (Moneybox's  financial  year end), Moneybox announced that i t had made pre-tax profit of £26,542,000

(2023:losses  £4,141,000) and had net assets  aIributable to Shareholders  of £87,173,000 (2023: £62,569,000).                      

                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

The valuaDon of Moneybox was reviewed by the I nvestment Manager and the Board during both the hal f year and ful l  year

financial  results  process . During the year, the valuaDon of Moneybox was increased fol lowing the announcement of the

company's  compleDon of a  secondary share sale bringing in new investors . The valuaDon for the current year has  been

calculated us ing the price of this  recent arms length transacDon. To factor in any uncertainty surrounding the current

price, i f the fa ir value of the investment at the reporDng date has  been stressed by +/- 10% the fa ir value would

increase/decrease by £542,000.

 

I n the prior year the valuaDon of Moneybox was calculated by calculaDng the average enterprise value to sales  raDo of a

peer group of l i s ted companies  and then applying a  discount to reflect the smal ler s ize and narrower focus  of Moneybox.

This  was  cross  checked us ing a  discounted cash flow analys is . An increase/decrease in the discount used of 5% would

decrease/increase the fa ir value by £290,000 and an increase/decrease of the mulDple of sales  of the peer group used of

0.5x would increase/decrease the		fa i r value by £295,000.                      

 

See Note 13(d) for further detai ls                                                                                                                                                                       

                                                                                                            

 

 

14     Receivables

 

30 November 2024
£'000

30 November 2023
£'000

Securi ties  sold awaiting settlement 18,708 4,933

Dividends and interest receivable 2,480 1,930

VAT recoverable 32 36

Overseas  tax recoverable 1,618 1,487

Prepayments 35 33

 22,873 8,419

                                                                                                                               

 

15   Cash and Cash Equivalents        

30 November
2024

£'000
30 November 2023

£'000

Cash at bank 26,436 36,406

Cash held at derivative clearing houses 1,742 856

Cash and Cash Equivalents 28,178 37,262

Bank overdraft - (1)

 28,178 37,261

 

 

16 Called Up Share Capital 	
30 November 2024

£'000
November 2023

£'000

Allotted, Called up and Fully paid:  

Ordinary shares of 5p each:  

Opening balance of 308,861,687* (2023: 325,394,000) 15,443 16,270

Repurchase of 5,642,322 (2023: 16,532,313) ordinary shares  into
treasury (282) (827)

Allotted, Called up and Fully paid: 303,219,365 (2023: 308,861,687)
ordinary shares of 5p                                                             
                                                              

15,161
 

15,443

28,530,635 (2023: 22,888,313) ordinary shares  held in treasury 1,427 1,145

At 30 November 2024 16,588 16,588



At 30 November 2024 16,588 16,588

*Excluding shares  held in Treasury

During the year, there were 5,642,322 ordinary shares  repurchased into treasury (2023: 16,532,313) for a  total

cons ideration

£9,038,000 (2023: £23,139,000). No ordinary shares  were issued during the year (2023: ni l ).                                                        

                                                                                                                               

The ordinary shares  held in treasury have no voting rights  and are not enti tled to dividends.

                                                                                                               

 

16.          Net Asset Value Per Ordinary Share              

30 November
2024 30 November 2023

Net assets  attributable to ordinary Shareholders  (£'000) 629,678 488,198

O rdinary shares  in issue at end of year (excluding shares  held in
treasury)

303,219,365 308,861,687

Net asset value per ordinary share (pence) 207.66 158.06

 
As at 30 November 2024, there were no potentia l ly di lutive shares  in issue (2023: ni l ).
 
17. Transactions with the Investment Manager and Related Party Transactions
a) Transactions with the manager   
Under the terms of an agreement dated 11 June 2013 the Company has  appointed Polar Capital  LLP  ("Polar Capital") to

provide investment management, accounDng, secretaria l  and administraDve services . Detai ls  of the fee arrangement for

these services  are given in the Strategic Report. The total  fees , paid under this  agreement to Polar Capital  in respect of the

year ended 30 November 2024 were £3,860,000 (2023: £3,519,000) of which £350,000 (2023: £278,000) was  outstanding

at the year end.                                                                                                                                                                        

A performance fee based on cumulative relative performance s ince 23 Apri l  2020, amounting to £ni l  (2023: £ni l ) has  been

accrued at the year end. Any accrued performance fee is  payable at the end of each five-year tender period, the next being

in 2025. See Strategic Report in the Annual  Report for more detai ls .                                                                                                      

                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

                       

In addition, the total  research costs  in respect of the year from 1 December 2023 to the year ended 30 November 2024

were £57,000 (2023: £25,000) of which £19,000 (2023: £8,000) was  outstanding.                                                                            

                                                                                                                                                                                          

b) Related party transactions           

The Company has  no employees  and therefore no key management personnel  other than the Directors . The Company paid

£142,000 (2023: £145,000) to the Directors  of which £35,000 (2023:  £23,000) was  outstanding at the year end. The

Remuneration Report i s  set out in the Annual  Report. When dividends are paid by the Company these are received by the

Directors  who own shares  at the same rates  and terms as  by a l l  other Shareholders .                                                                        

                                                                        

18. Post Balance Sheet Events

 

There are no s igni ficant events  that have occurred after the end of the reporting period to the date of this  report which

require disclosure.

                                                                                                                               

Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)
 

I n assess ing the performance of the Company, the I nvestment Manager and the Directors  use the fol lowing AP Ms which

are not defined in accounting standards  or law but are cons idered to be known industry metrics :

 

NAV Total Return

 

The NAV total  return shows how the net asset value per share has  performed over a  period of time taking into account both

capital  returns  and dividends paid to Shareholders . The NAV total  return performance for the period is  calculated by

reinvesting the dividends in the assets  of the Company from the relevant ex-dividend date.

 

 
 

Year ended
30 November 2024

Year ended
30 November

2023



30 November 2024 2023

Opening NAV per share a 158.1p 166.3p

 

Clos ing NAV per share b 207.7p 158.1p

Dividend reinvestment factor c                             1.025875  1.022930

Adjusted clos ing NAV per share d = b*c 213.1p 161.7p

NAV total return for the year (d / a)-1 34.8% -2.8%

 

NAV Total Return Since Inception

NAV total  return s ince incepDon is  calculated as  the change in NAV from the iniDal  NAV of 98p, assuming that dividends

paid to Shareholders  are reinvested on the ex-dividend date in ordinary shares  at their net asset

value.                                                                                                                                                                                    
 

Year ended
30 November 2024

Year ended
30 November

2023

NAV per share at inception a 98.0p 98.0p

 

Clos ing NAV per share b 207.7p 158.1p

Dividend reinvestment factor c                             1.411532  1.361991

Adjusted clos ing NAV per share d = b*c 293.2p 215.3p

NAV total return since inception (d / a)-1 199.2% 119.7%

 

 

NAV Total Return Since Reconstruction

NAV total  return s ince reconstruction is  calculated as  the change in NAV from the NAV of 102.8p, which was the clos ing

NAV the day before the tender offer on 22 Apri l  2020, assuming that dividends paid to Shareholders  are reinvested on the

ex-dividend date in ordinary shares  at their net asset value.                                                                                                                  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

     
 

Year ended
30 November 2024

Year ended
30 November

2023

Rebased NAV per share at reconstruction a 102.8p 102.8p

 

Clos ing NAV per share b 207.7p 158.1p

Dividend reinvestment factor c                             1.137893  1.097861

Adjusted clos ing NAV per share d = b*c 236.3p 173.6p

NAV total return since reconstruction (d / a)-1 129.9% 68.8%

 

 

Share Price Total Return

Share price total  return shows how the share price has  performed over a  period of Dme. I t assumes that dividends paid to

Shareholders  are reinvested in the shares  at the Dme the shares  are quoted ex-

dividend.                                                                                                                                                                                        
 

Year ended
30 November 2024

Year ended
30 November

2023

Opening share price a 138.8p 154.6p

 

Clos ing share price b 196.2p 138.8p

Dividend reinvestment factor c                             1.028511  1.030408

Adjusted clos ing share price d = b*c 201.8p 143.0p

Share price total return for the year (d / a)-1 45.4% -7.5%

 

 

Share Price Total Return Since Inception

Share price total  return s ince inception is  calculated as  the change in share price from the launch price of 100p, assuming



Share price total  return s ince inception is  calculated as  the change in share price from the launch price of 100p, assuming

that dividends paid to Shareholders  are reinvested on the ex-dividend

date.                                                                                                                                                                                 

 
 

Year ended
30 November 2024

Year ended
30 November

2023

Share price at inception a 100.0p 100.0p

 

Clos ing share price b 196.2p 138.8p

Dividend reinvestment factor c                             1.391998  1.353458

Adjusted clos ing share price d = b*c 273.1p 187.9p

Share price total return since inception (d / a)-1 173.1% 87.9%

 

 

Share Price Total Return Including Subscription Share Value

The share price total  return including subscripDon share value performance s ince incepDon includes  the value of the

subscription shares  issued free of payment at launch on the bas is  of one-for-five ordinary shares  and assumes such were

held throughout the	period from launch to the convers ion date of 31 July 2017. Performance is  calculated by reinvesDng

the dividends in the shares  of the Company from the relevant ex-dividend date and uses  the launch price of 100p per

ordinary share.                                                                                                                                                                                 

 
 

Year ended
30 November 2024

Year ended
30 November

2023

Share price at inception a 100.0p 100.0p

 

Clos ing share price b 196.2p 138.8p

Dividend reinvestment factor c                             1.401121  1.381556

Adjusted clos ing share price d = b*c 274.9p 191.8p

Share price total return including subscrip2on share value since
inception

(d / a)-1 174.9% 91.8%

 

 

(Discount)/Premium

A description of the di fference between the share price and the net asset value per share usual ly expressed as  a

percentage (%) of the net asset value per share. If the share price is  higher than the NAV per share the result i s  a  premium.

If the share price is 	lower than the NAV per share, the shares  are trading at a  discount.                                                                  

                                                                                                     
 

30 November 2024
30 November

2023

Clos ing share price a 196.2p 154.6p

Clos ing NAV per share b 207.7p 166.3p

Discount per ordinary share (a  / b)-1 -5.5% -7.0%

 

 

Ongoing Charges

O ngoing charges  are calculated in accordance with AI C  guidance by taking the Company's  annual  ongoing charges,

excluding performance fees  and excepDonal  i tems, i f any, and express ing them as  a  percentage of the average dai ly net

asset value of the Company over the year.

 

O ngoing charges  include al l  regular operaDng expenses  of the Company. TransacDon costs , interest payments , tax and

non-recurring expenses  are excluded from the calculaDon as  are the costs  incurred in relaDon to share issues  and share

buybacks.

 

Where a performance fee is  paid or i s  payable, a  second ongoing charge is  provided, calculated on the same bas is  as  the

above but incorporating the movement in the performance fee provis ion.                                                                                          

                                                                                            
 Year ended



Year ended
30 November 2024

Year ended
30 November

2023

Investment Management Fee (Note 7 above)   £3,860,000  £3,519,000

Other Administrative Expenses  (Note 8 above)    £844,000  £794,000

a   £4,704,000  £4,313,000

Average dai ly net assets  value b  £552,193,000  £502,339,000

Ongoing Charges excluding performance fee a / b 0.85% 0.86%

Performance fee (Note 7 above) c - -

d = a+c  £4,704,000  £4,313,000

Ongoing charges including performance fee d / b 0.85% 0.86%

 

Net Gearing

Gearing is  calculated in l ine with AI C  guidel ines  and represents  net gearing. This  i s  defined as  total  assets  less  cash and

cash equivalents  divided by net assets . The total  assets  are calculated by adding back the bank loan. Cash and cash

equivalents  are cash and purchases  and sales  for future seIlement outstanding at the year

end.                                                                                                                                                                                            
 

30 November 2024
30 November

2023

Net assets a  £629,678,000  £488,198,000

Bank loan b  £78,935,000   £69,031,000

Total  assets c = (a+b) £708,613,000   £557,229,000

Cash and cash equivalents  (including amounts  awaiDng
settlement)

d   £46,510,000   £37,484,000

Net gearing (c-d)/a-1 5.1% 6.5%

 

AGM 

The Annual  Report and separate NoDce of Annual  General  MeeDng wi l l  be posted to Shareholders  in February 2025 and

wi l l  be avai lable from the Company Secretary at the Company's  Registered O ffice, (16 Palace Street London SW 1E 5JD) and

on the Company's  website.	The AGM wi l l  be held at the Company's  Registered Office at 2:00pm on Thursday 10 Apri l  2025.

 

Forward Looking Statements

Certain statements  included above contain forward-looking informaDon concerning the Company's  strategy, operaDons,

financial  performance or condiDon, outlook, growth opportuniDes  or ci rcumstances  in the countries , sectors  or markets

in which the Company operates . By their nature, forward-looking statements  involve uncertainty because they depend on

future ci rcumstances, and relate to events , not a l l  of which are within the Company's  control  or can be predicted by the

Company. Although the Company bel ieves  that the expectaDons reflected in such forward-looking statements  are

reasonable, no assurance can be given that such expectaDons wi l l  prove to have been correct. Actual  results  could differ

materia l ly from those set out in the forward-looking statements . For a  detai led analys is  of the factors  that may affect our

business , financial  performance or results  of operaDons, we urge you to look at the principal  risks  and uncertainDes

included in the Strategic Report Section of the Annual  Report and Financial  Statements .

 

No part of these prel iminary results  consDtutes , or shal l  be taken to consDtute, an invitaDon or inducement to invest in

Polar Capital  Global  F inancials  Trust plc or any other enDty and must not be rel ied upon in any way in connecDon with

any investment decis ion. The Company undertakes  no obl igaDon to update any forward-looking statements . Neither the

contents  of the Company's  website nor the contents  of any website access ible from hyperl inks  on the Company's  website

(or any other website) i s  incorporated into, or forms part of, this  announcement.

 

[1]	The	most	junior	debt	security	in	a	financial	company's	capital	structure.	It	ranks	ahead	ofequity	but	behind	senior	debt	and	depositors	of	a	bank	or	policyholders	of	an	insurancecompany.
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